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FOREWORD

The Personal Experience Monograph Program provides
U.S. Army War College students the opportunity to write
about their personal involvement in their profession. The
monographs written through this program cover a wide
range of subjects and stem from a variety of motivations.
Students in the USAWC Class of 1998 wrote a unique group
of monographs focused on operations in Bosnia. This
compendium is comprised of a set of those monographs
covering experiences by branch, thus presenting a fairly
comprehensive overview of the deployment of U.S. forces in
support of the Dayton Accords.

The contributors were all commanders of battalion or
equivalent-sized units. They were encouraged to write in
their own personal style and relate events as they
experienced and interpreted them. Some conclude their
monographs with explicit “lessons”; in other monographs
the lessons must be teased out.

The reader is encouraged to use this publication as a
goad to reflect upon his or her own personal experiences in
military service, and perhaps to take the time to write
thoughtfully about them. While official after-action reports
are valuable, the business of command and leadership as
treated in such reports is generally presented in relatively
sterile terms. In these monographs, the reader will see a
more thoughtful and expressive examination of the art of
command and leadership.

LARRY W. WORTZEL
Colonel, U.S. Army
Director, Strategic Studies Institute



CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Dr. Douglas V. Johnson 11

This collection of monographs has been assembled from
the 42 Personal Experience Monographs written by the U.S.
Army War College (USAWC) Class of 1998. The Personal
Experience Monograph program was instituted
iImmediately after the Gulf War with the original purpose of
capturing first-person histories of various aspects of that
war. The program rapidly expanded to include any military
experience that might prove useful to others. When the
USAWC Class of 1998 arrived, it was evident that a great
many had recent experience in Bosnia that might prove
useful to others who would eventually serve there. The
collection assembled here was chosen for the wide variation
of branch functions and the centrality of the initial
deployment issues addressed. The authors speak for
themselves with minimal editorial interference.

The reader should draw his or her own conclusions from
this collection, but | would like to suggest that some of the
following thoughts are worthy of further consideration and
discussion.

We have an incredibly talented military at present,
capable of doing what seems impossible with little
warning and limited guidance.

While our operations are tightly centralized so far as
policy formulation is concerned, we have been forced
by circumstances to rely upon decentralized execution
to an unusual degree. This has forced us to depend
upon junior officers and noncommissioned officers in
ways we have talked about for decades, but have



seldom practiced. The actual practice seems to be
bearing fruit and is worth extending.

The imagination and inventiveness of American
soldiers have not diminished one whit; neither has
their capability to endure senseless guidance, rotten
conditions, and lousy weather. They continue to
demonstrate that essential soldierly quality, the
ability to endure.

Whatever peace operations training is being
conducted at the Combat Maneuver Training Center
(CMTCQC) is right on the mark. Further, that training
appears fully effective in transforming combat
soldiers into peacekeepers/ enforcers. To reverse that
training after the soldier departs his peace operation
assignment—i.e., to restore a combat orientation—
does not appear to take undue effort.

We have a married Army. A major consequence is that
the most important position in a deploying unit, after
the commander (and arguably after the operations/
plans officer), is the Rear Detachment Commander.
Captain Basil H. Liddell-Hart was correct in noting
that “even the bonds of patriotism, discipline, and
comradeship are loosened when the family itself is
threatened.” The state of morale on the home front
underpins that on the operational front.

Finally, muscular peacekeeping is not really that
different, operationally, from real combat. But
tactically the differences are substantial, and at the
tactical level, where junior leadership is operating,
the training and discipline of the American soldier,
his NCOs, and officers shine brilliantly.

This compendium is offered on behalf of those who did
their duty well.



CHAPTER 2

SIGNAL PREPARATIONS
FOR OPERATION JOINT ENDEAVOR
IN THE FORMER REPUBLIC OF YUGOSLAVIA

Colonel Peter G. Dausen

FIRST KNOWLEDGE

| first heard of the Yugoslavia problem in early 1992; it
had been going on for awhile. But as | recall it had not been
looked at seriously as a potential contingency operation
until about that time. I was working as the Chief of the
Communications Watch Division for the National Military
Command Center in the Pentagon, so | had a pretty good
view of all the hot spots for the U.S. foreign policy. | also
heard a lot of the scuttlebutt. As 1992 grew to a close, the
talk was that we were heading off to do Operation
RESTORE HOPE in Somalia to avoid becoming involved in
Bosnia, which was viewed as a “tar baby”: Once in, you do
not get out. April 1993 found me deploying to Somalia for
RESTORE HOPE as well for a United Nations (U.N.)
follow-on operation, CONTINUE HOPE. While deployed in
Somalia, | learned that my future assignment would be to
command the 72nd Signal Battalion, a European Theater
tactical signal battalion for supporting echelons above corps
(EAC). In the winter of 1994, while attending Pre-
Command Courses and corresponding with my future
command, | discovered that the 72nd was already on the
books to be used in Bosnia if the United States agreed to get
involved on the ground there.



BATTALION COMMAND

I assumed command of the 72nd Signal Battalion on
June 10, 1994, and was immediately briefed on the “Bosnia
Plan.” It was apparent that this plan had been pretty fluid
for some time because there were a lot of blank parts—and
even more that others did not agree with, particularly
within the 7th Signal Brigade itself. We already had
elements of the 72nd deployed to provide “Bosnia Theater”
support: a large extension node switch (LEN) and a large
tactical satellite (Tacsat) hub terminal (TSC 85B), with a
team of wiremen and signal leadership in Zagreb, Croatia,
to provide communications for the Joint Task Force (JTF)
Operation PROVIDE PROMISE; a small extension node
switch (SEN) attached from our sister battalion, the 44th,
with a Tacsat link terminal (TSC 93B), wire team, and
leadership to provide communications support for JTF
Operation ABLE SENTRY in Skopje, Macedonia, formed to
prevent escalation of the conflict into Greece; and a large
message switch (TYC 39) in Dal Molin Air Base, Vicenza,
Italy, to provide record copy of the air tasking order for
Operation DENY FLIGHT, which was restricting a
potential Balkan air war. However, 1 month later, instead
of the expected Bosnia deployment, we found ourselves
deploying to Africa. For me it was redeploying, but this time
to Rwanda, for Operation SUPPORT HOPE. SUPPORT
HOPE needed only a small but well-conducted network.

We learned many worthwhile lessons. A key lesson dealt
with task organizing: Putting complementary signal
equipment together from different organizations into
flyaway packages. On the equipment/team level, this
consisted of medium and large packages of switching
equipment and transmission equipment (normally
Tacsats). On the battalion level, this involved the division of
network areas of responsibility.

SUPPORT HOPE had no sooner ended than the brigade
was involved in putting in the theater architecture for
Exercise Atlantic Resolve, a massive simulation-supported



exercise that looked at a NATO deployment to Atlantis, a
hypothetical European country in conflict. Three guesses as
to who Atlantis was. (Hint: It starts with the letter B.) This
time the network was fairly large; the exercise lasted an
entire month. Again we all learned some great lessons.
Again the battalions were task-organized, but this time we
sent out both battalion control elements (BATCONS). And
the brigade put together a “joint SYSCON?” (systems control
element). Although the joint SYSCON had its supporters
and detractors, the idea worked. It had a future. During this
exercise, the 44th mainly supported the areas inside the
iImmediate exercise box at Grafenwoehr, Germany, while
the 72nd had responsibility for the western side of the
network, which was everything outside Grafenwoehr to
Kaiserslautern and Stuttgart. Although no one knew what
the future would bring, the experience for the 72nd in
command and controlling (C?) an extensive network, widely
spread geographically, would prove to be indispensable. |
was on an autobahn overpass observing our convoy
procedures when I had another foretaste of the future. My
Mobile Radio Telephone (MRT) rang, with the "Brigade
Three” giving me a warning order to deploy yet another
Tacsat team to the Bosnia theater—this time to the island of
Brac for support of a high-level intelligence mission called
Operation LOFTY VIEW II. The team deployed in early
December 1994. This should have been an omen for us, but
there was too much to do, and the future was probably the
last thing on our minds at that time.

Near the end of 1994, the priority for the entire brigade
was the coming move from its home in Karlsruhe to
Mannheim, Germany. It was a move that consumed all of us
for at least 6 months, maybe a bit more. Again, the lessons
from Operation MOVE TO MANNHEIM were many. The
first for us was in organizing large-scale movements by rail.
We had no idea at that time that this would later prove to be
the transportation of choice to Bosnia. Second was in
wargaming and establishing subordinate organizations in
two locations, Mannheim and Karlsruhe, while continuing



all training, maintenance, and other programs. This split
operation proved to be the “straw-man” for split operations
for the 72nd in Bosnia. Third was the lesson in conducting
splitoperations themselves throughout the entire battalion:
what information was critical, what absolutely needed to be
tracked, how did you conduct meetings in two places, how
did you keep critical members of the organization informed
in real time, how did you keep team cohesion over a large
geographic separation? These lessons proved to be greatly
beneficial when we got ready to do the deployment.

In late May 1995 while we were still in the midst of the
move, the brigade got a good scare: Deployment looked
likely, and we did some intense planning. This planning
helped a great deal in getting us ready later. However, some
new plans came out of this intense time. The U.N. was losing
control; the fighting was reaching a new level of intensity.
There was a lot of concern about U.N. peacekeepers getting
captured as well, especially in the so-called U.N. safe
havens of Gorazde, Srebrenica, Bihac, and even Sarajevo.
Even as we were planning for helicopter airlift to get the
peacekeepers out of these safe havens, Srebrenica and then
Gorazde quickly fell to the Serbs. It seemed like Bihac would
be next. Brigade plans at that time had the 44th, with its
battalion headquarters in lItaly, controlling all the
reach-back locations from Italy to Central Region. The 72nd
was supposed to support downrange with its battalion
headquarters at Zagreb because it was already controlling
the assets there. The Mountain Shield series of exercises
was born out of this planning. They were supposed to
simulate the Southern European Task Force (SETAF)
performing helicopter rescue of U.N. peacekeepers in Bihac,
with assistance from V Corps aviation. The 44th had the
lion’s share of these exercises, since SETAF was supposed to
be executing them from Italy. We supported with tactical
satellites and set up our BATCON at our Heidelberg switch
location, which was the reach-back for the Zagreb and
Skopje missions. The first exercise was in June 1995. We
were supposed to use a new bird for our tactical satellites,



the NATO 4B. This satellite had not been used before, but it
was planned to support any possible Bosnia network. NATO
4B quickly became a new cussword for tactical satellite
operators. It was obvious that there was a significant
problem. Our most experienced operators were having great
difficulty getting on the bird. And once on, we were
experiencing significant problems with the switch digital
transmission groups (DTGs). Every time we would
troubleshoot and seemingly isolate the problem, the
symptoms would change. The tactical satellite operators
struggled through. We sent e-mail forward through
command channels documenting the problems.

During July, the brigade decided to run the entire
Grafenwoehr rotation for weapons qualification and soldier
skills. It was a week with a tremendous amount of moving
parts, forcing a lot of decentralized decisionmaking, with a
centralized command and control. In terms of synthesizing
staff coordination across the brigade, the week at Graf was
an outstanding success. We got our share of weapons
gualification done, too. Brigade Exercise Rolling Eagle was
next on the calendar—2 weeks in August. Colonel John O.
Welch was the Brigade Commander. What made this
exercise so worthwhile was his decision to use this exercise
to train by the numbers. We had many new soldiers since
the move in June, creating almost completely new
organizations. The net result was that the soldiers gained
renewed confidence; all transmission shots came in,
including great performance by TROPO. The 72nd
BATCON put its fledging crew through its paces, and we
built on the coordination among BATCON Operations, S2/3,
and Administrative Logistics Operations Center (ALOC),
S1/4, that had served us so well through Atlantic Resolve
the previous year. The 324th Signal Company put its new
switch teams through their paces as well, and the Head-
guarters and Headquarters Company (HHC) continued a
great support tradition. All in all, it was a tremendous
train-up exercise! September was supposed to be an
off-month to allow the unit to catch up on some necessary



company training and log efforts, as well as finish off leave
schedules before the school year got into full swing again. It
was not to be. Although Srebrenica and Gorazde had fallen,
the new push was for Bihac. SETAF wanted to ensure that
its TF Lion could adjust to a new possible location, so on
short notice we combined forces for Mountain Shield I1. MS
Il was again in Graf. The 72nd provided C? over the
reach-back locations in Heidelberg. Again, there were lots of
problems with the NATO 4B satellite. At least this time we
got to meet with the NATO Communications Organization
and Signal Support Activity (NACOSA) and the Regional
Satellite Support Center (RSSC) representatives about the
problem during the exercise. This set the stage for a
follow-on test later in November.

October 1995 brought a plethora of new training
requirements, mine awareness, etc. The only real difficulty
was that certification for these tasks could be acquired only
through the Seventh Army Training Center (7ATC) at
Grafenwoehr, which led to large logistics requirements as
we worked to get soldiers trained through each of the
required U.S. Army Europe (USAREUR) wickets. At the
same time, we (the commanders and staff) were meeting
regularly to work what we knew of the mission
requirements. At this time the battalion still had not gotten
firm guidance on missions and customers. Consequently,
and coincidentally, no one was allowed down-range to see
the actual ground we were to set up on. An Allied Force
Southern Europe (AFSOUTH) team, which really had no
concept of our needs and really was not concerned with
them, had done the only surveys of our NATO sites. They
were mostly accounting for the Tactical Satellite Ground
Terminal (TSGT) and other NATO assets that they would
be bringing into the theater. EOM October/November
brought planning for Brigade Exercise Soaring Eagle,
which was originally planned to be the follow-on exercise for
Rolling Eagle. It would incorporate several networks
together, including 22nd Signal Brigade (MSE) and ARRC.
As it turned out, the dynamic nature of the planning at this



time led to a significantly down-scaled exercise, executed
within the greater Mannheim area within our kasernes. 1st
PERSCOM was exercising their ability to put out support
teams at the same time; they used our exercise to provide
their transmission paths. Additionally, it was the first time
we got to integrate the 414th Signal Company (NATO) into
the picture, which was especially significant for the 72nd,;
we received two complete platoons for attachment in Zagreb
and Sarajevo. Finally, 5th Signal Command used our
exercise as a vehicle for providing their certification of our
capabilities to perform the assigned mission.

During the previous summer, there had been a
significant military occupational specialty (MOS) change
for the Signal Corps: all satellite operators were put into one
MOS—31S. During the same period, we had a tremendous
turnover of our tactical satellite operators. As a result, we
did not have nearly enough 31Ss to man all our tactical
satellites, nor many experienced operators. We put together
aplan to integrate a school-trained 31S with an experienced
senior operator or team chief, who intensely trained them
for approximately 1 month. We were unable to fence the
whole month because of the amazingly high operations
tempo (OPTEMPO): every other day Pre-Deployment
Preparations (PDPs) (does the clinic have DNA kits now or
not?), every day a new training requirement, etc. Hence,
during the certification, 5th DCSOPS expressed some
doubts whether we would be able to do the mission.
Needless to say, we were stung by their evaluation, which
did not consider our plan or where we were on the timeline.
But performance over time is the true test. So our plan was
eventually justified by the great performance of the tactical
satellite operators and network throughout the
deployment. On the final day of the exercise, Commander-
in-Chief USAREUR General William W. Crouch came to
visit and check on us. He seemed to be impressed with our
state of readiness.

The next couple weeks of November were absolute
craziness. Any new requirement that could be thought up by



the USAREUR staff was thought up and implemented,
requiring us to execute as soon as possible, of course. We
were all convinced that the sooner we deployed, the better
off we would be. Thanksgiving came with visits from our
new Commanding General, Brigadier General Robert L.
Nabors, as well as a visit from the 21st TACOM
Commander, Major General James Wright, who told us that
he had been traveling throughout Hungary looking for a
place to stage the U.S. National Support Element, with no
luck so far. So the planning continued. We were still without
“eyes on ground.” Mission assignments within the brigade
were finally solidified: the 72nd would provide NATO
support, and the 44th would support U.S. forces. Task Force
72nd Signal was slowly being formed. We were having
regular mission briefs with extensive reviews of personnel
assignments; each person’s qualifications and state of
training were intensely scrutinized. We were also having
soldiers packed out at this time; their private vehicles
(POVs) were interned into special covered warehouses at
Spinelli Kaserne.

When were the trains coming? Everything was lined up
in the motor park and ready to go. Fortunately, we had an
extra area where we could post the different vehicle serials
dependent upon their mission area. We continued to work
through the Thanksgiving weekend. Then we got word that
rail cars were being posted for us out at Coleman Barracks.
USAREUR Forward was trying to get out at the same time.
So it turned out to be a bit of a race to see who would load the
first trains. This was quite a turnaround, since the previous
estimate was that the 44th, providing U.S. national
communications support, would deploy to theater first
because the peace treaty agreements were still being
worked, and U.S. troops were not supposed to enter the box
until there was complete executive approval. Well, we
started moving the MilVans to Coleman Barracks amidst
tremendous press coverage. CNN, Reuters, and all our local
publications interviewed us. The troops handled the press
superbly.
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That night we started moving the first serials out and
started loading onto the train. This went on throughout the
night and the next few days. Every time a new German rail
inspector came, we had to change the method of loading; no
one seemed to have a clear understanding of the required
standards, including the Deutsches Bundesbahn. We still
did not know what to expect on the passenger cars and
dining cars. The Branch Movement Control Team (BMCT)
said there would be a dining car, but that was about it.

Things were really beginning to move fast now. We
finally got authorization to send an advance party down to
Croatia. We would send the S3 as well as Lieutenant Feher
and Lieutenant Kelly, who would each be heading an
element to Ploce and to Split. The train loading was going
well now, in full swing. By close of business (COB)
Wednesday all the trains for the NATO enabling forces were
loaded. But there was no order to move the trains, so they
sat on some rail sidings outside of Mannheim while we
waited and waited. Families were anxious, but no
information came. Rumors were that Friday, December 8,
was the day. The advance party flew out of Frankfurt early
Thursday, so we cut the soldiers loose to spend some final
time with their families and friends—a 4-hour string was
required. Friday started out the same way, no news. We had
a 0900 formation and cut the soldiers loose again. By 1200 I
figured that nothing was going to happen that day. But |
thought that I had better get my bags squared away just in
case. | still figured it would be Monday. Out of the blue, at
1430 my MRT started ringing. It was Colonel Welch. They
got approval, and the first two trains were to pull tonight, at
2100 and 2330. Would we be ready?

| started the alert process with the first formations set at
1700 hours. Things were going well; it had been well
rehearsed. At 1500 I got another call on my MRT while | was
working double-time to get my bags packed. Colonel Welch
again. They moved up the times on us: would we be ready at
2000 and 2100 for the trains to pull out? No problem,
everything was still on track, and it should work with the
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new times. Ops Center at the battalion was already being
established. At 1615 hours, as | was heading out the door,
my MRT rang again: They moved up the time again to 1800
and 2000. Would we be ready? Also, for the first time we
heard something about needing only a supernumerary
guard force of five soldiers to travel with the trains. | told the
boss at that time that no changes could be made. We will
ride it out and see what happens. It was bedlam at the
battalion; phones were ringing off the hook; families were
milling about. Command Sergeant Major got the first
formation together. Trucks with personnel bags were to
follow the buses to Coleman Barracks and then to the train
station. The weather was bitterly cold, as it had been all that
week during the rail-load.

Somehow we got the first buses out to Coleman Barracks
loaded with soldiers, with a separate bus for family
members. | drove out to Coleman Barracks with my family
in our car. Confusion reigned out there as well. Where was
the first bus? A big send-off committee was there, complete
with USO music, the American Red Cross with lots of goodie
packages, families, the Commanding General, and a huge
American Flag. The 293rd BSB had done a super job of
staging the event. Finally, the first bus got there. | found out
that the first train had to pull by 2000. We were still on
schedule.

Yes, it was true, only a guard force of five soldiers was
required for each of the trains with the complement of
soldiers for those lifts traveling by buses to Croatia on
Monday, December 11. We had organized the teams that
way when we first got the news, just in case. Finally, after
loading personal bags, inventory, and securing weapons in
the baggage car, amidst flashing of cameras and well wishes
from loved ones, the first train pulled out. The second went
faster, the tense moments were over. There was no word on
when the rest of the five trains would pull out or when the
additional buses would go.
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Saturday morning began with the holiday parade
through the housing area. The day before seemed almost
like a memory already. Yet | felt like a deathrow prisoner
savoring his last few hours. Noon hit, with the phone
ringing again. The rest of the trains would pull out that
night, between 2000 and 0200. Again, only five guards per
train were required. The remaining soldiers would travel by
bus on Tuesday. Saturday night went infinitely better.
Amazing what a day of practice will do! It was another long
cold night; we finally got home about 0330. I got to celebrate
Sunday Mass one last time with the family. Then we spent a
quiet day, resigned to a Monday departure. Monday was
well organized. The buses were there. However, it was
difficult just getting everyone to finish their good-byes and
get on the road. Good-byes are so tough! We were finally on
our way.

The buses were fairly comfortable, at least for the first 6
hours. Power on the MRT went fast, so | found myself
scrambling at the rest stops trying to find places to get a
charge. The sun set, and we were still on the road, traveling
through Austria to Slovenia. At the Slovenian border we
encountered our first difficulty in crossing. | remember
seeing some young men, locals, who were encouraging us,
declaring that only the United States could fix the present
situation. The Croatian border was next.

We were beginning to close in on Zagreb. When we had
left, we were not sure where we would be staying the night.
Now it was locked in; we would be staying at the Panorama
Hotel. The bus drivers originally stated that they knew
where they were going. But now it became apparent that
once in Zagreb, they were clueless. We wandered around in
two tourist-sized buses, trying to find the Panorama Hotel.
Fortunately, because it was 0130 in the morning, there was
not a lot of traffic on the streets. It was a bit of a helpless
feeling, without phone communications (MRT did not work
once we passed the Slovenian border), and without maps. So
we wandered about searching for the Panorama. It felt a bit
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like the Jewish exodus wandering around the Sinai trying to
find the promised land.

Finally we saw a small sign marked Panorama Hotel
and navigated to it. Then the bus drivers figured that the
front awning was too low for them to get under, so they
parked in the rear of the hotel and wanted all of us to carry
all of our bags around the building. There was no rear
entrance. After a bit of haggling, they finally reconsidered
and got the buses pulled back around. It was now 0230. But
we had arrived for our first night in Croatia!

SETTLING IN AND INSTALLATIONS

The Panorama Hotel was like a class B communist hotel.
But it sure beat tents! Of course we had our tents, stoves,
latrines, and all the field gear you can imagine coming on
the trains. Zagreb was a big city—you cannot imagine
camping out in the middle of it. It would be like setting up at
Rockefeller Center in New York City with business still
going on. Without a reconnaissance and survey of the
mission area and customers, we were certainly burdened
with a lot of extra equipment.

Several of the trains were combined at the border. One of
them was already in. The other was due in the next few
hours. The trains for Split and Ploce were going straight
through to Split, where both would unload. The Ploce team
would then road-march to their final destination. So we
found ourselves in quite a different type of situation—
planning a rail unloading operation after just a wink of
sleep in the lobby of a hotel in downtown Zagreb. December
12 dawned early, with cloudy skies and some snow on the
ground. There were lots of unknowns and concerns. Topping
the list was where we supposed to set up. Our major
customers, Implementation Force (IFOR) Headquarters,
were in a military compound downtown now called the U.N.
compound because that's where the U.N. had its head-
guarters and would still operate from until the Transfer of
Authority (TOA) to NATO. My S3 Operations Officer, Major
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Gordon Johnson, who had come a few days earlier as part of
an advance party, told me that there was a military
compound across a busy city street that looked promising. It
was still being used as a high-level school for Croatian
senior officers. But the Croation military authorities had
relinquished control of a large building for the IFOR
Support Command Headquarters, commanded by Major
General Farmen, another one of our customers. There was a
large parking lot, complete with basketball goals in front of
the building. It looked very adequate for our needs as long as
the look angle for our satellite dishes could clear the
four-story buildings.

I could check that out in a bit. But now we needed to find
out who was in charge of the land to provide some sort of
permission for putting one of our signal sites there. | found a
colonel in the U.N. compound who was assigned as the IFOR
HQs Commandant. The IFOR staff was not fully
functioning at this time; it was still being organized. |
introduced myself and explained why he needed to allocate
space to us in the adjacent compound parking lot. He had a
Croatian officer on his staff. They deliberated. After a bit of
haranguing and wringing of hands, he agreed. We parted
amiably. Later | found out that there was a turf dogfight
between him and the IFOR Support Command HQs
Commandant who also claimed to be responsible for the
same ground.

Meanwhile, that OK was good enough for me. The S3and
| then set off to check out the rail unloading operation under
the responsibility of the 72nd Signal Battalion HQs
Company Commander, Captain Shorty Glover. We were
still confined to traveling together in the S3's rental car
acquired during the advance party. Shorty also had his
hands full trying to coordinate his transportation assets (a
26-passenger bus and a 9-passenger van), meals for the
troops, and accounting for all the soldiers. Just as we
arrived at the railhead, so did the press. And | found myself
giving an interview to CNN in the midst of snow flurries.
Fortunately, true to his character, Shorty was doing a

15



marvelous job of coordinating the efforts at the railhead.
Work was progressing well.

The next critical issue was where to locate the additional
equipment that was not being positioned downtown at our
newly acquired signal site in the Croatian compound. We
had two unit motor pools with us, as well as all the support
equipment necessary to conduct field operations for an
entire year. Camp Pleso, a U.N. site by the Zagreb airport
about 12 miles away, was a possibility. So that was the next
stop to arrange for parking the equipment.

Again, space was at a premium. Only potential mud
holes were left—not conducive to conducting maintenance
operations. Clearly no one was in charge. The U.S. Marine
Corps Commander of the USJTF Operation PROVIDE
PROMISE claimed that he still had a viable mission; he did
not acknowledge the pending transfer of authority (TOA)
that was to take place in 2 weeks. He refused to release any
assets for our use. We had been providing communications
support for PROVIDE PROMISE for the last year and a
half—now we had to convince the commander to let us swap
out our own equipment (an AN/TSC 93B satellite link
terminal for the AN/TSC 85B satellite hub terminal). The
smaller terminal would easily be adequate for requirements
of the JTF. However, the larger hub terminal was necessary
for the major signal center we were constructing downtown.
Even though the JTF would not lose any service, noone likes
to see their mission being taken over. So negotiations were
tougher than they needed to be.

Finding an administrative parking area conducive to
maintenance for approximately 40 vehicles (one-and-a-half
tons to 10 tons in size) was a problem. The U.N. was no help
whatsoever. They really seemed to resent our presence.
Finally, with no solution in sight, | decided to exercise
squatter’srights. There was aroad on the edge of the airfield
that did not appear to be getting too much use. So we started
parking the vehicles on both sides of the road, keeping them
out of the mud and leaving a single center lane. That would
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have to do for the time being. It was not pretty but we could
sort it out later, maybe even acquire a contract in town. At
least we were out of the mud.

The U.N. had the only heavy crane in Zagreb, so we
needed to coordinate the use of it to download our communi-
cation shelters off the trucks and position them in the
Croatian compound parking lot. Fortunately, the U.N.
crane operator was easy to get along with. He provided some
really great assistance.

Things seemed to be coming along well. By the end of the
first day, we had the setup of the downtown signal site
pretty well underway. The larger train still needed to be
unloaded the next day. More coordination meetings were
necessary. Guards were required for the trains, for the
downtown signal center, and for the vehicles parked at
Camp Pleso. And another several busloads of soldiers
arrived in the middle of the night and needed to be
quartered. Some were sent to another hotel, the Hotel
Holiday. The Brigade S3, Major Frank Grove, was
coordinating a contract for this entire hotel complex. It was
on the outskirts of Zagreb and could house the entire
brigade headquarters as well as our battalion. This was a
much more modern hotel right off the highway, a trucking
firm behind it with a large fenced in motor park area. It
looked ideal for our needs too, especially with the potential
of contracting for motor-park space inside the fenced yard.

The next day was extremely cold, with blizzard
conditions. Captain Shorty Glover really had a tough job
now. On top of the limited transportation, he had to get
soldiers from two locations and rotate them to prevent any
cold injuries. The only redeeming factor from the cold
weather was that the media decided it was too cold for them.
So at least we had time to ourselves to get the job done.

When | arrived at the Croatian compound, Captain
Dwaine Boteler, the signal site commander, immediately
told me that he had been ordered to move by the IFOR
Support HQs. This was their area; they were responsible for
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it. They did not want us there or need us. | did not have to
wait long to hear their point of view personally. Only a
moment after | heard the news from Captain Boteler, a very
large and irritated U.S. Army colonel came up, loudly
announcing himself as the Chief of Staff for the IFOR
Support Command. By the look of things, this was not going
to be easy. But | was bound and determined not to move
from this location, especially since they wanted this parking
lot to have room to park their administrative vehicles close
to the building. After much bantering and negotiating, we
finally agreed on a solution. He needed additional guards for
the street-side post. | agreed to contribute them, but I
wanted some space closer to the building. So we agreed to
reposition our vans as long as our Tacsat communications
terminals stayed put. | provided him a working tactical
telephone so he could call his home station in Germany, the
continental United States (CONUS), or anywhere else. He
quickly realized our value to him. We were quickly
assimilated into his headquarters, complete with security
badges and a large office room to put our Administrative
and Logistics Operations Center (ALOC) into. So things
moved along well for awhile.

The next 3-4 days were filled with crises and more
coordination. At the end of 72 hours, despite all the
additional challenges, we already had our base network in,
with signal sites at Sarajevo, Ploce, Split, Naples,
Heidelberg, Mannheim, Landstuhl, and Hungary. The
technical part of the mission was progressing well. The
soldiers were performing outstandingly, beyond all
expectations—they were making a tough mission look easy.

The director of the Combined Joint Command Control
Communications Center (CJCCC) was Colonel
Rodakowski, the 5th Signal Command Deputy Chief of Staff
for Operations (DCSOPS). He was in charge of coordinating
all the communications assets for the mission—a very
daunting task considering all the diverse communications
contributors to this mission. During a meeting that first
weekend (December 16, 1995), he shared his concern about
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the Sarajevo site for the IFOR Forward HQs at the
Residency (the former residence of Yugoslav Prime Minister
Marshal Joseph Tito). It seems the plan was to link up the
communications with Zetra Stadium, the signal site on the
outskirts of the city: it supported the Ace Ready Reaction
Corps (ARRC) Forward HQs. The link was less than a mile
as the crow flies, but it had to go across a high ridge and
apartment buildings and was connected by no less than four
different communications means. Since signal support for
the IFOR Forward HQs was the mission of my battalion, he
asked me to go to Sarajevo and do some on-the-ground
signal surveys. The following Tuesday (December 19), the
first flight out found me and CW2 Banner, our brilliant
Tacsat warrant officer, aboard a C17 bound for Sarajevo.

Once in Sarajevo, we soon discovered the dire living
straits of our soldiers supporting the ARRC at Zetra
Stadium. Captain Dave Alexander and the 58th Tacsat
Signal Company had arrived 5 days earlier. They had putin
communications and were bedded down at Zetra. This was
the location of the ice skating events of the 1984 Olympic
Games, where Dorothy Hamill of the United States had won
the gold medal. The stadium roof was very badly damaged
from the shelling. The main stadium floor was flooded with
approximately 3-4 inches of water throughout. The toilet
facilities were Mideastern, only a hole with footprints. They
were inoperable, overflowing with an unbelievable stench.
The water did not work anywhere in the building: no
showers, no laundry. Water for cooking and cleaning had to
be carried in. Our soldiers had to sleep on cots in hallways
under the stadium seats—the driest place they could find.
But they were still under water. I quickly found the
Headquarters Commandant (HQ Commandant), an
Australian officer assigned to the ARRC, to tell him of my
displeasure and to hear his assessment of the situation.
According to him, his engineers were working very hard but
had been unable to fix the plumbing. Maybe in another week
or two. But they had already been there 5 days. In addition,
he said he would be moving in Karomic portable toilet
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containers as well. | told him I understood that he felt he
was doing the best he could, but this was a very unhealthy
and unsatisfactory condition. It was not being fixed fast
enough. | intended to inform my higher command and
request assistance. When | informed my Brigade
Commander about the deplorable conditions, he told me to
report it directly to the Commanding General (CG) of 5th
Signal Command. The CG was very supportive and assured
me that he would do whatever he could to improve the
situation for the soldiers. Next I called the ALOC to contract
for floor lumber for the tents to get the soldiers out of the
water—but there was no guaranteed method to get the
supplies to Sarajevo. Postal service was not working yet,
and the flights in were extremely erratic. There is really a
price for being the first in!

The next day I awoke in four inches of water that had
seeped in during the night. Breakfast consisted of cold eggs
and baked beans, served in a dimly lit area. Water
constantly dripped onto the food. It felt similar to being in
Fort Douamont in Verdun, where we had taken the
battalion officers for an Officer Professional Development
(OPD) just 5 months previously. Today was the TOA to
IFOR; it was time to survey the communications for the
Residency, located in a heavily wooded lot in the city, with
an extremely high ridge on one side and high-rise
apartment buildings on the other. It did not look like a
promising location to set up a Tacsat for a direct shot. The
look angle would not clear the trees, the ridge, or the
high-rise buildings. Additionally, the IFOR Forward HQ
Commandant, a U.S. Army colonel assigned to AFSOUTH,
was not very inclined to give any assistance. In fact, he made
it plain that he had no room to quarter any more soldiers. He
did not care about communications. His sole concern was
how to accommodate CINC IFOR Admiral Smith and his
staff, who were arriving in about a week to man the forward
headquarters.

After looking around, CW2 Banner and | both agreed
that our only possibility was to elevate the Tacsat
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antennaes so that the look angle would have a higher
baseline, thereby clearing the obstructions. Then we hit
upon the idea to download the communications shelters
from the vehicles and put the entire shelter on the flat part
of an adjacent roof, with the antenna mounted on top of the
shelter for additional height. The roof looked strong enough.
But we double-checked with an engineer, who verified our
assessment. An ambitious plan: but according to our
calculations, it looked workable. It had to work—there was
no good alternative. Admiral Smith was due in a week. |
made a couple of calls to Colonel Rodakowski to let him
know the promising results of our survey, then another to
the Battalion ALOC to get them started on acquiring more
lumber for the roof platforms. Our other trains, full of signal
equipment under the control of Captain Doug Muller, C
Company of 44th Signal Battalion (attached to Task Force
72nd for the support of IFOR Forward), were on the way to
Split.

Our flight back was due in that afternoon, but a sudden
snowstorm kept the plane on the ground at Zagreb. We were
stuck at the airport with no communications to either
Captain Alexander at Zetra or to the IFOR personnel at the
Residency. We needed to get back as soon as possible to work
the planning. Time was critical! We met a German colonel
who was in a similar circumstance; he thought he might be
able to get a couple vehicles to try it by road if the plane did
not fly in the morning. He offered us a ride the next morning
at 0800. He would come back and pick us up at the airport.
CW2 Banner and | had neither a place to go nor any way to
contact anyone. So we looked around for a place to bed down
for the night. The airport area was the scene of the heaviest
fighting around Sarajevo. It was really battered, not much
resembling an airport at all. But we found a couple of cots,
and even a German newsman hunting for a story. The next
morning the plane again did not fly. But promptly at 0800,
the German colonel came by to pick us up. He explained that
we were going to take the Serb corridor, a more direct route,
because the TOA declared it open. Then he smiled and
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promptly chambered a round in his pistol. Well, there was
no turning back now. We followed suit, climbed in the rear of
the vehicle, and began a wild trip through the Serb corridor
and down the snow-covered mountain passes to Mostar and
Ploce. After one major rest stop, we arrived back in Zagreb
the next morning at approximately 0400. After thanking
our German comrades, we quickly reported in and hit the
sack for a couple hours of sleep. The next day would begin
very quickly, with much planning for the return trip to
Sarajevo with convoys of equipment.

The first thing the next morning was an operational
situation report (SITREP) from the battalion headquarters.
Everything was progressing extremely well under the able
leadership of my Executive Officer, Major Phil Minor, and
my S3, Major Gordon Johnson. Major Minor had developed
avery effective administrative and logistics operation using
the ALOC. And Major Johnson was handling the reins of the
Battalion Control (BATCON) with uncommon savvy.
During an early visit to the CJCCC, Colonel RodakowskKi
verified the need for urgency for the Sarajevo IFOR
communications mission. “Need you to lead the convoy to
Sarajevo ASAP and ensure the communications installation
for the CINC. The communications need to be in by the 28th
of December,” he explained. I told him there were lots of
moving parts to this operation. If everything went according
to schedule and the planets were aligned perfectly, we had a
good shot. The plan: CSM Spence, my Battalion Command
Sergeant Major, and I, along with CW2 Banner and some
able NCOs, would set out early the next day (Christmas
Eve) in afour-vehicle convoy filled with lumber and supplies
to Split. At Split we were to join up with Captain Muller,
help organize their convoy on Christmas Day, and lead
them to Sarajevo early the next day. That would give us
about 2 days to build a roof support, coordinate crane
support to lift the shelters and antennas, and get the
satellite shot in—certainly a daunting task, to say the least.

Meanwhile in Zagreb, Major Johnson had his hands full
working military/commercial interfaces so that anyone
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could dial through the U.S. system or the U.N. system (now
leased by NATO) to reach their party. Additionally, we
found that our big-city downtown location was fraught with
problems for communications. We originally thought that
we would overhead our cables across the street from high-
rise building to high-rise building. However, a city
ordinance forbade that. Even a special plea to the mayor did
not help. He did say that he would provide city engineers to
assist us in putting our cables under the street in a sewer
pipe. The Croatian engineer who came to put our five PCM
coaxial cables through the sewer pipe decided the ends were
too large (the connecting hocks). To our horror, he had
chopped them off to accommodate them to the pipe. No one
had ever spliced a PCM cable before—there was no
technical instruction on how to do it, because the PCM cable
carried an electrical charge. There was too much margin for
error. Two of our other outstanding warrant officers, CW2
Lori Bobzien and CW2 Ken Dempster, met the challenge.
After a tedious day of trial and error, they got the cables to
work, providing much needed additional service to the
IFOR HQs. We had already installed a single Tacsat link on
the U.N. compound to the IFOR HQs, but until these PCM
cables were installed, the link was not networked through
our main switching center on the Croatian compound. Now
there were multiple communications routes, giving us a
significantly improved reliability of service. The brigade
headquarters was also busily preparing for a Christmas
party and a possible visit from President Bill Clinton, both
of which we would miss.

We took off early the next morning amid a light snowfall.
The maps we had were very small scale and barely
adequate. CW2 Banner and | were the only ones who had
been along this route before but that was in the middle of the
night. We still managed to find our way through the rugged
terrain and burnt-out villages. We arrived in Split around
2300 amid a cacophony of celebratory fire. Now we had to
find the railhead and Captain Doug Muller’s unit. Working
the map the best we could along with some reconnaissance
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techniques, we found the railhead and Captain Muller,
along with Major Vince Speece, the brigade S4, who had
flown down a couple of days earlier to work billeting and
parking contracts for the unit and its equipment. Major
Speece quickly got us billeted for the night as well, but not
before we had a brief visit out to Lieutenant Kelly, of TF
72nd, and his communications element, which was
providing support to the British National Support Element
(NSE) located about eight miles north of the city. Major
Speece got us billeted in a former luxury hotel on the
southern side of Split, right on the water’s edge. However, it
was in absolutely terrible shape. It had been housing war
refugees for the last 3 1/2 years. The night was filled with
the sounds of automatic fire and the light of tracers shooting
out over the bay.

Christmas 1995 dawned early with lots of work to do.
Captain Muller and his soldiers had not been fully briefed
yet on all the details of the plan, and all the equipment had
to be checked out, shelters remounted on vehicles (for rail
load they are downloaded and transported separately),
convoy topped off with fuel and inspected, and everyone
briefed for safety. The soldiers were anxious too, because
they were to be the first unit convoy to come into Sarajevo
since the TOA.

We set out early on December 26. Our route took us down
the Dalmation coast along a coastal road, offering beautiful
vistas, and then north from Ploce to Mostar and through the
mountains to Sarajevo. | was primarily concerned about the
road between Mostar and Sarajevo. It runs along the
Nevertva River, a swift river flowing through jagged
mountain passes. All the bridges were blown, the shorter
ones having been replaced with snap-link bridges. But two
longer ones required long bypass roads/trails around
tributary rivers. One in particular was very treacherous, a
mud-like logging trail only about a lane and a half wide in its
best locations. CW2 Banner and | witnessed a vehicle
narrowly miss going over the side on our earlier trip coming
back from Sarajevo with the Germans. There had been no
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improvement in the road. The warring factions had tried to
destroy the tunnels as well. All were without lights; several
had deep ditches where the road surface had been blown
away in an effort to render them impassable. It was a long,
laborious road march. We arrived in Sarajevo about 2200
that night, very tired. As we got to Zetra, we were told that
there was no room to billet us there. Furthermore, no one
was even allowed in, according to the orders of Brigadier
General Raper, the ARRC Signal Officer and Commander of
the 1st Signal Brigade, the unit that provided the
communications support for the ARRC. I quickly got on the
phone with the General; he allowed us to stay one night. OK,
one step at a time, at least we got a foot in the door. Captain
Alexander and his troops were delighted to see us,
especially since we had brought lumber for their floors to get
them off the water—now ice—because of the cold
temperatures. It was now snowing through the remnants of
the destroyed roof. Then we heard some accounts of our
soldiers being sniped at while on duty at their signal vans
outside the stadium on the soccer field adjacent to the Lion’s
cemetery. As with so many of these events that would take
place over the next couple months, no full explanation was
found. But I took comfort in the knowledge that our soldiers
took the proper actions and were safe.

While in Zetra, we coordinated with the Danes for use of
their crane and planned our installation the next day.
Living conditions in Zetra had improved; several toilets
worked. Hot water was promised for showers within a day or
so. Compared to a week prior, it was like the Holiday Inn. |
thanked the HQs Commandant for his diligence. The next
day when we arrived at the Residency, the IFOR Army
colonel looked as though he had seen a ghost. He reluctantly
gave his OK; then we started work on the roof. But he also
said in the same breath that he had no place for our soldiers
to stay. No room at the inn, we were not welcome for another
night at Zetra, and we were not welcome at the Residency
either. Providing service sometimes is not easy. Captain
Muller worked hard; he was not going to take no for an
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answer. He quickly made himself and his soldiers
indispensable to the IFOR staff, so they had to find room for
some of them. Meanwhile Brigadier General Raper faced an
unpleasant situation as Lieutenant General Walker, the
CG of the ARRC, saw Zetra and said that he would not
accept it under any circumstances as his headquarters. He
would wait in Kiseljak (approximately 15 miles outside of
Sarajevo) until the Hotel complex in Iliadza (Serb section of
Sarajevo) was completed for his command post (CP). Now all
the communications at Zetra were not fulfilling any
functional role except as a signal node. He needed U.S.
communications service in Kiseljak. I was the only potential
provider, with two separate Tacsat links that were in the
process of being installed on the Residency roof. Well, he
must have gotten to Colonel Rodakowski, because the
colonel called me just a few minutes later and directed a
change of plans to put one of the links in Kiseljak until the
ARRC moved to lliadza, planned for mid-January. |
WILCOed his request and directly called Brigadier General
Raper, telling him I could get him communications the next
day so long as my soldiers had a reasonable place to live and
park our equipment. Desperation makes the best of friends.
We made an agreement.

The roof installation of the first system was progressing
nicely; communications came in well within the pre-set
deadline. We planned to travel to Kiseljak the next day to
install the other system. Morning began with blizzard
conditions, which continued throughout the day. Traveling
was treacherous on the mountain roads. Again time was
critical, this time for the ARRC. After another harrowing
journey through the foothills around Sarajevo, we arrived in
Kiseljak in a blinding snowstorm. Again, we had to force our
way and find a place to set up—nothing was ever easy at the
outset. But with an expert team led by Staff Sergeant
Gomez, the Tacsat shot was in with communications run to
the headquarters within approximately 2 hours of our
arrival on site.
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This change of plans caused a delay in our departure
because now we had to wait for another 93B for the
Residency installation to be flown in by C17. The New Year
of 1996 came in with an unbelievable display of celebratory
fire coming from the Serbian-held hills around the
city—there was no question that the Serbs still had plenty of
weapons (more than small arms) and ammo. CW2 Banner
proved his indispensability again by solving a very complex
communications problem for the British, much to Brigadier
General Raper’s chagrin. He was convinced that it was a
problem with the U.S. communications. During these days
another of our comrades had a close call. He found a rocket
propelled grenade (RPG) round sticking out of the fender
cowling of his HMMWYV after driving down Sniper’s Alley to
the airport to pick up a passenger who just flew in. For one of
those very lucky and blessed reasons, the RPG did not
detonate. But he was not the only one with a close call.
Captain Dave Alexander took me on a site survey for the
Tacsat installation at Iliadza. British sappers had already
cleared the ground of mines. Yet during a thaw on the
following day, two British soldiers installing concertina
over the same ground Dave and | had walked stepped on a
mine. It was a small anti-personnel mine known as a
kneepopper, about the size of a cigarette lighter, designed to
injure and disable an enemy, rather than kill him. The two
British soldiers suffered multiple shrapnel wounds in their
backs and legs; one soldier lost a testicle. And while | prayed
for their recovery, | also thanked the good Lord for His
protection.

Finally the second 93B arrived. The immediate
installation was completed, and we returned to Zagreb on
January 4, 1996. During these initial days of providing
service to the IFOR staff and Admiral Smith, we realized
the shortcoming of not having a major switch in Sarajevo.
Captain Doug Muller really wanted his switchboard to have
the flexibility to provide a full measure of signal support to
the admiral. It would also provide an extra measure of
redundancy that we presently lacked from terminating the
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Tacsat systems with two independent remote multiplexers.
After long discussion of pros and cons with Colonel Welch,
my Brigade Commander, and Colonel Rodakowski, we
agreed to put a large switch into Sarajevo. So plans were
made to redeploy back down to Split and convoy the
switchboard and crew to Sarajevo. Captain Muller was to
prepare a site for it at the Residency—no easy task, with
space at such a premium. After just 3 days in Zagreb, long
enough to receive full SITREPs on the battalion and the
many remote signal sites, we were on the road again to Split.
This journey went much smoother. Roads were already
being improved. Within a week, we were back again in
Zagreb.

With the initial installations completed, it was time to
settle in and resume our normal battalion administrative,
logistics, maintenance, and training systems. Although I
felt guilty that | had neglected the battalion headquarters, |
had focused my efforts where they were most needed. The
signal part of the mission was being accomplished superbly
through the expert planning of the CJCCC under the
leadership of Colonels Rodakowski and Dempsey,
supported by outstanding execution by professional
communicators. The first month was over. The next weeks
would bring many changes both in the network and in our
living conditions. Sites were added in Doboj and lliadza; so |
visited the soldiers out there again just a few short weeks
later. For reasons of force protection, the entire brigade in
Zagreb was moved out of the Hotel Holiday just weeks after
a contract was secured, to be billeted at Camp Pleso in
field-type conditions. The staff of the IFOR Support HQs
moved into the Hotel Holiday in our place. For some reason,
they were not subject to the same force protection rules. But
then again, plenty of things did not make sense on this
mission.

The greatest challenge for the soldiers was yet to
come—the looming boredom once the initial work was over.
But the first hectic month was over. Now we were in for the
long haul.
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CONCLUSION

Our arrival in Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (FRY)
really brought a lot of relief to the leadership and the
soldiers. It was a lot like being on the kickoff team waiting
for the whistle to blow. Then the game would begin, and we
could execute our gameplan. After a time, those great
planning ideas that all the Major Command (MACOM)
staffs were thinking up were really beginning to detract
from the job ahead. It was time to just do it, and do it we did.
The resulting communications network has been described
as the most complex and successful ever. The keys to the
success were the signal and interoperability exercises in
Mannheim, Germany, and the decision of NACOSA to
reconfigure the NATO 4B satellite. But most of all, the
outstanding signal leaders and soldiers really made it
happen!
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CHAPTER 3

THE BLUE FALCONS IN BOSNIA

Lieutenant Colonel Curtis M. Scaparrotti

PREFACE

This personal experience monograph is an account of the
3-325 Airborne Battalion Combat Team’s (ABCT)
participation in JOINT ENDEAVOR. | commanded the
3-325 ABCT from June 1994 to April 1996, which included
the ABCT's participation in JOINT ENDEAVOR. My
battalion was the first U.S. combat unit to enter
Bosnia-Herzegovina for JOINT ENDEAVOR. It secured
Tuzla Airbase, enforced the Dayton Accord Agreement in
the Russian Brigade Sector prior to the Russian Brigade’s
arrival in theater, and executed designated security
missions in the Task Force EAGLE area of operation (AOR)
between December 18, 1995, and February 19, 1996.

The 3-325 ABCT, the “Blue Falcons,” is a unique,
combined arms, rapid reaction force normally stationed in
Vicenza, Italy. The Blue Falcons provide the European
Command (EUCOM) with a forced entry capability that is
deployable in 18 hours. The ABCT is also the American
contingent of NATO'’s Allied Mobile Force (AMF).

It is a subordinate command of the Southern European
Task Force (SETAF). The ABCT's parent is the LION
Brigade, which was commanded by Colonel James
McDonough during this period. Although the LION Brigade
did not deploy for JOINT ENDEAVOR, | must note its
critical role in the ABCT’s training, preparation,
deployment, and redeployment. Also, a significant slice of
the brigade—e.g., engineers, military police and civil
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affairs, military intelligence, medical, communications,
maintenance, logistics, and other support personnel—
deployed to Bosnia-Herzegovina as an element of TF 3-325.
Therefore, my reference to the “Blue Falcons” or TF 3-325
includes the fine augmentation soldiers from the LION
Brigade.

The 3-325 ABCT is the only unit of its type in the U.S.
Army. Its base organization consists of the following:

Headquarters and Headquarters Company. This
company included the Scout Platoon and 81mm
Mortar Platoon.

Three airborne rifle companies.

The Heavy Weapons Company, E Co. This company
included five weapons platoons. Each platoon had
four armored HMMWVs that could mount a TOW, 50
cal machine gun, or M60 machine gun. Each platoon
had four TOW systems, two 50 cal machine guns, and
two M60 machine guns.

D Battery, 319th Field Artillery. This battery had six
M119 105mm howitzers and an organic fire direction
center.

The 3-325 ABCT, augmented by elements from the
LION Brigade mentioned earlier, was organized into Task
Force 3-325, especially tailored to participate in JOINT
ENDEAVOR.

This monograph was written from memory and the
hasty journal notes that | kept during the operation. |
believe the dates and events to be correct. However, any
errors in the monograph are mine. My purpose is to provide
a personal account of the Blue Falcons’ participation in
JOINT ENDEAVOR. It is not a complete account by any
measure. For example, the coverage of the exceptional
contributions of the Task Force’s combat service support
elements is very brief and is worthy of a separate
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monograph. My omission of such elements or other events
does not imply their insignificance. | simply chose to cover
the major missions in the time | allotted to write this
monograph.

Finally, this is a salute the soldiers of TF 3-325. Because
of their professionalism and service, the Blue Falcons
accomplished every mission.

INTRODUCTION

On the evening of December 18, 1995, soldiers of Task
Force 3-325 stepped off the ramp of a C130 aircraft into the
cold, snowy night at Tuzla Airbase, Bosnia. The first U.S.
combat unit to enter Bosnia-Herzegovina, the Blue Falcons
would play a key role in JOINT ENDEAVOR. The purpose
of this monograph is to provide a personal account of the
Blue Falcon’s participation in JOINT ENDEAVOR.

The monograph is organized in chronological order. The
Blue Falcons’ preparation, deployment, operations, and
redeployment follows, covering a time span of mid-
November 1995 to March 1996. The final section of the
monograph, presenting lessons learned, is focused on
company-level leaders preparing for deployment to Bosnia.
However, many of these lessons are applicable to leadership
In any peace enforcement operation.

BACKGROUND

As the rapid reaction force for EUCOM, the Blue Falcons
had been focused on the conflict in Bosnia-Herzegovina for
more than 2 years prior to their deployment. For at least a
year prior to my assumption of command in June 1994, the
battalion combat team’s staff tracked the conflict in Bosnia
and maintained a CONPLAN for their most likely
employment if the United States intervened. Also, the
commander and staff briefed and wargamed the CONPLAN
with the 1st Armored Division in Germany. The battalion
combat team S-2 shop maintained a large wall map of the
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region that displayed the current unit locations of warring
factions. In short, the potential employment in Bosniawas a
constant in the life of the battalion.

The battalion combat team’s frequent deployments to
Grafenwoehr and to the Combat Maneuver Training Center
(CMTC) in Hohenfels, Germany, focused on the battalion’s
essential tasks for a combat or a peace enforcement mission
in Bosnia-Herzegovina. Our first CMTC rotation in
September 1994 was designed around our core Mission
Essential Task List (METL) of deliberate attack, movement
to contact, and defend. The CMTC rotation coupled with a
follow-on training phase at Grafenwoehr provided the
battalion 45 days of near continuous training in our
fundamental warfighting tasks. After additional home
station training in Italy and a break over the Christmas—
New Year holidays, the Blue Falcons deployed to Germany
in February 1995 for another CMTC rotation.

The second CMTC rotation and the follow-on
Grafenwoehr training phase focused upon the battalion
combat team’s unique mission essential tasks: conduct a
parachute assault, conduct air assault, and conduct
non-combatant evacuation operations (NEO). We also
integrated supporting small-unit collective tasks common
to peace enforcement missions, such as establish a
checkpoint.

The Blue Falcons had executed two intensive training
cycles, each over 40 days in length, that trained all of the
battalion’s Mission Essential Tasks to standard in less than
7 months. However, when the Blue Falcons returned to
Italy in late March 1995, we did not realize that our training
pace was about to gain greater momentum.

In June 1995 the battalion combat team was alerted to
conduct an extraction of encircled U.N. forces in Srebrenica
or Gorazde. The United Nations Protection Forces
(UNPROFOR) established these “safe havens” within
Bosnia-Herzegovina to protect surrounded Muslim
populations. However, the Serb forces continued to press
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their advance around the safe havens, threatening the
safety of both the populace and the UNPROFOR. In order to
prepare for the extraction mission the battalion combat
team deployed to the Grafenwoehr training center with its
habitual higher headquarters, the LION Brigade and
SETAF.

The plan to extract the UNPROFOR from the
endangered safe havens was very complex. The operation
included a night time helicopter insertion and extraction
with a 2-hour flight each way across the Adriatic Sea and
over hostile Bosnian airspace. At the peak period, 98
aircraft were in flight along several flight corridors. Over
the next 3 weeks the battalion combat team, as the ground
combat element of TF LION (SETAF headquarters and the
Lion Brigade), conducted four complete rehearsals, 2 day
and 2 night rehearsals, of the extraction of UNPROFOR
from the Srebrenica enclave. These rehearsals were
controlled and evaluated by Headquarters, V Corps, and
subordinate units. They included live-fire exercises and
were executed employing realistic flight times by placing
refuel points and objectives areas in distant locations within
Germany (Kitzingen, Grafenwoehr, and Hohenfels). The
night live-fire iterations included Apache, AC-130, and Air
Force close air support. By the end of this rehearsal phase
the units at the point of the bayonet—the company teams of
the Blue Falcons—had executed the air insertion, actions on
the objective area, and the extraction 24 times. Following
the night certification exercises, we were ready to execute
the mission. Initially, our movement to an Intermediate
Staging Base (ISB) was considered, but we redeployed to
Vicenza to await an execute order.

The situation in Bosnia continued to deteriorate, and the
battalion was alerted again in late August to extract the
UNPROFOR. Once again, we deployed to Germany and
conducted refresher training to ensure proficiency in our
essential tasks and then redeployed to Italy. Again, the
execution order did not come.
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This near continuous series of intensive training events,
all fully resourced and externally evaluated, placed the
battalion combat team at peak readiness in the fall of 1995.
Additionally, leader turnover had been carefully managed
and the key leaders, both officer and NCO that experienced
this intensive training, would lead the battalion combat
team during JOINT ENDEAVOR. | doubt that many
battalion commanders, other than the Ranger battalion
commanders, experience such an ideal training
environment. As a result, the 3-325 Airborne Battalion
Combat Team was a confident, cohesive, and ready team
when it got the call to lead U.S. forces into Bosnia.

PLANNING AND PRE-DEPLOYMENT TRAINING

The Blue Falcons received the initial notification to
participate in peace enforcement operations in former
Yugoslavia on October 10, 1995. The original plan called for
an initial entry force, TF LION commanded by Major
General Nix, the SETAF Commander, to secure Tuzla
Airbase and to conduct operations in the U.S. sector until
relieved by TF EAGLE (1st Armored Division/IFOR)
scheduled to enter Bosnia across the Sava River. However,
as the organization of TF EAGLE evolved, leaders realized
that the logistical and communications support for two task
forces would be difficult to resource and would create
unnecessary complexity. By late October, it was clear that
the battalion combat team would enter Bosnia as an
attached unit of TF EAGLE rather than TF LION, its
habitual headquarters.

Insight and guidance concerning our mission were
gained from a series of phone conversations between
SETAF and the 1st Armored Division leaders and
operations officers. I do not recall a single written document
prior to late November 1995. This is not a criticism of TF
EAGLE. The TF EAGLE staff was trying to determine their
organization and requirements at a time when the Dayton
Accord’s outcome was unknown. Nor do I think that this was
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unusual. In today’s environment, a commander and staff
must be comfortable with using their judgment and
available information to develop a plan. | found this to be
the case in our planning for Operation SUPPORT HOPE
(humanitarian relief mission in Rwanda and Zaire)
executed prior to JOINT ENDEAVOR as well as my
experience during Operation ASSURED RESPONSE (the
NEO in Liberia) executed directly after JOINT
ENDEAVOR.

Despite the uncertainty, the Blue Falcon staff initiated
the mission analysis and course of action development on
our most probable mission. This early planning was
valuable—and fortunate. On November 10, 1995, and with
short notice, we were required to brief General William
Crouch, the USAREUR Commander, on our concept for
entry into and security of Tuzla Airbase. The concept brief,
favorably received by General Crouch, provided an azimuth
check on our concept, an opportunity to gain his insights on
how the initial phase of the operation was expected to
unfold, and an unexpected but welcome question on what
items of equipment we most needed. Our response, armored
High Mobility Multipurpose Wheeled Vehicles (HMMWYVS)
for E Company (Heavy Weapons), led to the delivery of 20
new armored HMMWYVs prior to our deployment to Bosnia.

The planning increased in intensity and pace through-
out November. The Dayton Accord Agreement was
announced on November 21. That evening I received a call
from the 1st Armored Division G3. Major General William
L. Nash, the Division Commander, wanted me to attend the
mission planning conference at their division headquarters
the day after Thanksgiving. | learned that the full Airborne
Combat Team, which included many brigade slice assets,
would be employed. The G-3 requested that we be prepared
to brief the CG on our plan to enter and secure Tuzla
Airbase.

On November 24, my S3, Major Skip Davis, and I
attended coordination meetings with the 1AD staff and
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briefed Brigadier General Cherrie, the Assistant Division
Commander, on our concept of operations. Brigadier
General Cherrie approved our plan and provided the
following guidance:

3-325 ABCT is the fighting headquarters at Tuzla
Airbase.

Commander, 3-325 ABCT, is responsible for the
security of Tuzla Airbase and the tactics employed,
including the security patrols in the Tuzla area.

3-325 ABCT will have the Air Force Security Police
element and two Military Police platoons from 1AD
under its Operational Control (OPCON).

3-325 ABCT was responsible for the security of 1AD
Headquarters (Forward). He added that he did not
want a palace guard.

The Secretary of Defense visited Bad Kreuznach and
spoke to the TF EAGLE leadership on this day also. |
recorded what he believed were the compelling reasons to go
to Bosnia:

The United States had vital interests in the stability
of Europe. The conflict in Bosnia was likely to spread
if not checked and was too great a risk to ignore any
longer.

This was an opportunity for peace and redefinition
that NATO must seize.

This peace was not possible without U.S. involve-
ment.

He assured the leaders that TF EAGLE would be a
robust force with full authority to move anywhere in Bosnia
and to use deadly force. Also, he stated that if deadly force
were used, our soldiers would have the support of their
commanders, his support, and President Clinton’s support.
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He also provided his timeline for JOINT ENDEAVOR.
He expected deployment to commence in mid-December
with the force build-up phase lasting approximately 2
months. Reduction of the force and redeployment was
envisioned to begin at about 9 months into the operation.
Also, he stated that the administration would do all that it
could to prevent mission creep.

Major General Nash, TF EAGLE Commander, also
addressed the leaders. | recorded his “four main points”:

TF EAGLE will implement the military tasks
required by the Dayton Peace Accord.

We will make the multi-national division work.

We will assist in the humanitarian aid and civil
affairs as much as possible.

We will protect the force.

Major General Nash stated that our primary threats
were the winter, the mines, and the rogue elements. His
keys to success were discipline, informed soldiers, a
common view of the situation among commanders at all
levels, the judgment of leaders, and professionalism.

On November 25-26, we continued the detailed
coordination with the TF EAGLE planners and the U.S. Air
Force liaison officers. In particular we planned the initial
airflow from Aviano Airbase, Italy, into Tuzla Airbase. We
agreed on 21 C-130 sorties per day for the first 4 days to
insert the battalion combat team.

Additionally, we met Major Angelosante, the
commander of the Air Force Special Police element that
would be OPCON to the battalion combat team. We
discussed their security responsibilities. Essentially, they
would be responsible for the security of the tower area, the
ramp area, and the aircraft on the ground. The battalion
combat team would conduct all the perimeter security
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responsibilities. This first meeting was very positive and
reflected the effective working relationship that developed
during the operation.

On the November 26, | met an Air Force Officer from
AFSOUTH who had recently visited the Tuzla Airfield.
Colonel Steve Bryan had a wealth of information concerning
the physical layout of the airfield, the condition of the
perimeter fence, as well as the daily environment. In
particular, he stated that the locals entered and departed
the base through gaps in the perimeter fence, and that theft
was the biggest problem at the base. He told us that large
generators had been pulled through the perimeter fence at
night without alerting the U.N. security force at the base.
His insights refined our plan and helped guide my personal
reconnaissance of the airfield later in November.

LEADERS’ RECONNAISSANCE

I was one of the ten leaders from TF EAGLE who
conducted a reconnaissance of the Tuzla Airbase and the
U.S. sector between November 28-December 3, 1995.
Colonel Brown, the 1st Armored Division Chief of Staff, led
the party. This was an exceptional experience that paid
significant dividends throughout the deployment in Bosnia.

The means of entry and the route we took to and from
Tuzla were nearly as important as the opportunity to
reconnoiter the airbase. We departed Ramstein Airfieldina
C-21 aircraft on November 28 enroute to Split, Croatia.
Departing Split in U.N. 4-wheel drive vehicles, we drove
along the Adriatic coast to Ploce and then turned north
through Mostar and Konyjic, arriving at Kiseljak just prior to
midnight (Figure 1). We stayed overnight at the U.N.
compound in Kiseljak. Early the next morning, we loaded
Swedish APCs for the second and more dangerous leg of our
journey to Tuzla. Recently, U.N. vehicles had been
ambushed. In fact, a U.N. captain was slain and his vehicle
stolen near Tuzla the day prior to our departure. Therefore,
our escort was a Swedish mechanized platoon.
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Within about an hour | was reminded of why in my
career | had not sought mechanized infantry assignments.
Realizing that this trip was going to take about 10 hours, |
tapped the gunner on the leg and asked if | could take his
place. | remained in the gunner’'s hatch for the entire
journey except during the entry to Tuzla Airbase. The
gunner was happy to be out of the cold and asleep on the
deck of the APC, and | was equally happy to be breathing
fresh air. Most important, | gained an appreciation for the
terrain and the environment during the trip that played a
significant role in my decisions during our later
deployment.

Our route from Kiseljak traversed poor, narrow,
snow-covered roads through mountainous terrain. Sheer,
long drops on one side of the road were common, and several

CROATIA

VOJVODINA

BOSNIA
AND
HERZEGOVINA 1ua

SERBI/A

K
Ribenica ,,‘/
Zavidovicig ™" 0,7 Zivinice
el
4

Travnik.‘ L
%N
o’ ... ®\/ares
by Zenica

»’" Bugajno

CROATIA

[
Visok
o Kiseljak 87 © = 0p0

<-*Livno / *Sarajevo

MONTENEGRO

Approach wp. o
Return ===3
Adriatic

Sea
0 40 Kilomneters

0 40 Miles

Figure 1. Route To and From Tuzla Airbase.

41



tunnels were encountered which were barely large enough
for the APC to pass. The route was from Kiseljak through
Visoko, Vares, Ribenica, and Zivinice. The roads steadily
improved as we approached Tuzla. Along the way we passed
relatively frequent “checkpoints” established by local
factions demanding a toll for passage. Many cargo trucks
were lined up at the checkpoints while their drivers
attempted to negotiate passage. The U.N. soldiers
explained that the truck drivers usually had to release some
of their cargo to gain passage. However, the U.N. security
force’s negotiations were direct and effective. We lost little
time at the checkpoints.

We arrived at Tuzla Airbase at about noon on November
29. After a short meeting to coordinate our reconnaissance
plans, the UNPROFOR provided vehicles and security for
my reconnaissance of the area surrounding the airfield. In
particular, I conducted a reconnaissance of the two airfields
in close vicinity to the airbase, known as Tuzla West and
Tuzla East. These were short, single airstrips connected to
the airbase by roads that also served as connecting
taxiways. Both airstrips were being considered as possible
camp locations. Tuzla East was a potential location for TF
3-325's artillery battery and counter-battery radars.

During the morning of November 30, | conducted a
reconnaissance of the open area south of the airfield
perimeter. | was interested in the trafficability of the
terrain and whether the artillery battery could be sited in a
field just outside the perimeter fence. The area was
extremely muddy and was not cleared of mines except for
the dirt road that ran south of the southern perimeter fence.
In fact, we mired one of the Swedish APCs in the mud on this
trail.

I spent the remainder of this day walking the entire
airbase, including most of the perimeter. The airbase had
been heavily mined over the years, but there were no mine
records. Therefore, my reconnaissance was limited to the
paths that the UNPROFOR patrols used along the perim-
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eter. Even along these paths, |1 had to be alert. The
UNPROFOR patrols warned us that they had found mines
along their “cleared” routes on several occasions.

At one point along the northern perimeter fence, a little
girl about 6 years old yelled “boom, boom,” and shook her
head no. She then pointed to turn back, that the area was
mined. | would later learn that a young girl had recently lost
a leg due to a mine strike in the same area.

During the next 2 days | was able to meet the
UNPROFOR leaders on the airbase, coordinate for our
future transfer of responsibility for security, and view all
the buildings on the airbase. This coordination included the
commander of the UNPROFOR security force, the Danish
tank company commander who provided the reaction force,
and the U.N. administrators who managed the facilities.
These meetings provided significant information about the
daily operation of the base and the security vulnerabilities.

The security officer told me that the most significant
problem was theft. Penetration of the perimeter fence and
theft of the U.N.’s fuel and supplies were common. My belief
was that the U.N. security force soldiers were disciplined
and competent, but there were far too few soldiers to secure
the 9-kilometer perimeter. Also, | learned that 320 U.N.
vehicles had been stolen in the past 10 months, and that the
“Black Wolves,” a Muslim special forces unit, used an
undetected penetration of the airbase as a final training
standard for their new soldiers.

Additionally, I realized that most of the base was not
cleared of mines. Unexploded ordnance was visible while we
walked around the base. The only safe place at Tuzla
Airbase was on pavement or concrete. Therefore, clearing
operations would be required to establish effective security
patrol routes and to establish firing points for the battery
and the associated counter-battery radars. Finally, the U.N.
forces had pointed out that the high water table and clay soil
precluded dug-in fighting positions. All our security
positions would have to be built up from the surface.
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Two significant coordination meetings were held the day
prior to our departure. I met with the Danish Deputy
Battalion Commander and planned the relief of his security
force at Tuzla Airbase. Although this was our only meeting
prior to our link up with his forces on the night of December
18, the relief operation was executed with minimal friction.
Also, I visited the Norwegian field hospital and coordinated
medevac and treatment for our soldiers. At the end of the
day, | refined our security plan for the airbase and briefed
the 1st Armored Division Chief of Staff. Tuzla Airbase is a
relatively small base, and the allocation of limited real
estate would be difficult. I wanted to determine early the
use of buildings and the location of key elements such as the
battalion CP, maintenance platoon, medical platoon,
artillery battery, mortar platoon and counter-fire radars.
Colonel Brown agreed to about 90 percent of my plan for
siting ABCT elements on the airbase. Some of the locations
would not be resolved until we arrived on the base.

On December 2, the reconnaissance party departed
Tuzla Airbase and began the journey back to Split. We
returned on a different route: Zivinice, Ribenica, Zavidovici,
Zenica, Travnik, Bugojno, Livno, and Split.

I will never forget driving through one valley at
approximately midnight. For over 30 miles we did not see a
living creature. The APCs’ spotlights, directed right and left
of the road to spot an ambush, highlighted barren villages
with bullet-riddled homes. Many of the houses had two or
three gravesites in the front yard, and the spotlight beams
reflected off the headstones and crosses as we passed.

We arrived in Split early on the morning of December 3,
got some sleep, and then caught a C-21 back to Ramstein. |
transferred to a C-12 and flew back to Dom Lin airfield in
Vicenza. The reconnaissance was short and intense, but it
was critical to refining our security plan and properly
preparing the force for their mission in Bosnia.

While | was in Germany and Bosnia, the battalion
conducted sustainment training and prepared equipment
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for deployment. The pre-deployment training, coordinated
and resourced by the LION Brigade, was excellent. It
included a comprehensive mine awareness training
program that was developed by the Army Engineer School
at Fort Leonard Wood, Missouri. Every soldier in the Task
Force went through this training program.

The effectiveness of this mine awareness training was
demonstrated in Bosnia. Despite daily operations in heavily
mined areas, the Blue Falcons experienced no mine strikes
while deployed. There were many examples of mines
discovered—the right way. For example, one squad,
applying the proper techniques, discovered booby traps in a
house they were clearing near the Zone of Separation (ZOS).
Each of the doorways had been rigged to trip hand-
grenades.

Also, platoon Situational Training Exercise (STX) lanes
were executed in late November and early December. These
training exercises placed the platoons, and particularly
their leaders, in a series of situations they were likely to
experience in Bosnia. This training also proved to be
beneficial to platoon-level leaders. The situational training
exercises were:

1. Dismounted STX Vignettes.

Mine Strike (evacuate casualty; extract from
minefield; mark and report a minefield);

React to Sniper (evacuate casualty);

Apply Rules of Engagement (encounter armed
former warring factions (FWF) element that
restricts freedom of movement);

Apply Rules of Engagement (FWF element leader
threatens use of force); and,

React to Indirect Fire (evacuate casualty).
2. Mounted Vignettes.
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Encounter Roadblock/Checkpoint (apply Rules of
Engagement; understand basic Serbo-Croat);

Apply Rules of Engagement (react to hostile force);

Mine Strike (apply Rules of Engagement; evacuate
casualty from minefield; react to contact); and

React to Sniper/Built-up Area (react to sniper;
evacuate casualty).

The TF staff, led by the Deputy Commander, Major Rich
Hooker, continued to work on a comprehensive and detailed
plan that included deployment plus relief and security
operations in Bosnia. The Operations Order was briefed to
the TF leaders on December 6, and company commanders
provided brief-backs on the same day. The next day, the
Operations Order (OPORD) 96-4 (IRON ENDEAVOR) was
published. The TF 3-325 Mission was “On order, 3-325
ABCT inserts by air to secure TUZLA Air Base in support of
TF EAGLE peace enforcement operations.”

The Commander’s Intent was expressed as follows:

I intend to insert the ABCT by air early on G-Day to quickly
secure TUZLA Air Base with sufficient combat power to
overwhelm or deter any resistance to our presence. Follow-on
forces will reinforce security of the airfield and expand our
ability to conduct patrols in the immediate vicinity. Keys to our
success are force protection, soldier discipline, strict
impartiality, freedom of movement, and the ability to dominate
any situation. Desired end state is complete security in and
around the airfield and the ABCT postured for link-up with 1
AD.

The following day | flew back to Bad Kreuznach for the
TF EAGLE OPORD and Rock Drill. These were held on
December 8 and 11, respectively. Meanwhile, the battalion
combat team purchased and palletized Class IV supplies,
loaded vehicles and ISU-90 containers, and conducted
equipment inspections. On the December 12, we conducted
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a rehearsal for leaders, using a very detailed scale model of
Tuzla Airbase. After this rehearsal, | was confident that the
Blue Falcons were loaded, trained, and ready to deploy for
JOINT ENDEAVOR.

DEPLOYMENT AND INITIAL OPERATIONS

Our Aerial Port of Embarkation (APOE) was Aviano
Airbase, approximately 2 1/2 hours north of Vicenza. At
0630, December 13, the first vehicle convoy departed
Vicenza en route to Aviano Airbase. We dispatched vehicles
and ISU-90 containers in deployment order to Aviano
throughout the next several days. The Vicenza garrison
command and the LION Brigade established the Departure
Airfield Control Group, executed the staging and inspection
of vehicles, and assisted our S-4 at the ammo issue point at
Aviano.

A heavy snow began to fall at approximately 1400, and
we decided to stop the flow of vehicles to Aviano after the
first day’s chalks had departed. Additionally, we delayed
the departure of troop buses until the afternoon of
December 14. Such a snowfall was rare in the Vicenza area;
this was the first snow of any significance in the Vicenza
region for the past 5 years.

I received a call from Major General Nash at my quarters
that evening. He stated that he was sending Mr. Kirk
Spitzer, a print journalist, to travel with me into Bosnia. We
discussed my comments to the media who would surely be
awaiting our arrival at Tuzla Airbase, as well as a few
tactical matters. | appreciated this guidance and the fact
that he took the time to personally call me prior to our
departure.

The execute order, citing G-Day as December 15, was
received on December 14, and TF 3-325 began movement of
the troops to Aviano Airbase that afternoon. Most of the
family members were there to see us depart. Also, many of
the major news services were present to film the departure.
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The presence of the media was a constant for the
remainder of this mission. Journalists were covering the
battalion’s preparation for the week prior to our departure,
and three embedded reporters would travel with me as the
combat team flew into Bosnia. As a result, | requested a
public affairs officer (PAO) for the battalion. We received a
reserve public affairs officer who had served in the same
capacity during Operation DESERT STORM. 1| also
assigned one of the ABCT's senior artillery officers as a
PAO. This team of two officers was fully employed on a daily
basis throughout our deployment. On one day in Bosnia
there were 35 media personnel covering some element of the
Blue Falcons.

A proactive public affairs plan ensured that the media
could get the story without interfering in our operations. In
fact, we allowed an experienced film crew equipped with
night vision cameras to accompany a platoon on a night
patrol. The green-filtered footage was shown on the six
o’clock news across the United States that week. Because of
a good working relationship with media, the battalion
received frequent and positive press.

The deployment plan called for the entire ABCT to
deploy into Tuzla Airbase by C-130 aircraft over a 4-day
period. C-17s would transport the heavy engineer platoon’s
equipment and the Bradley platoon. The sustainment and
ammo pallets for the battalion would take several
additional days of airflow.

The general concept for the insertion of the Blue Falcons
was to flow sufficient combat power on the first evening to
begin the relief of the UNPROFOR security forces and to
secure the airbase in the case of hostilities. Due to the size of
the airbase and the airflow constraints on the first evening,
we planned to deploy the following combined arms force:

Two rifle company teams (C Company followed by B
Company);

Battalion assault command post;
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Heavy weapons platoon from E Company (HMMWVs
with TOW anti-tank weapons, M-19 grenade
launchers, and .50 caliber machine guns);

Three 105mm howitzers from D Battery with two
TPQ-36 counter-battery radars;

Scout sniper teams; and

Advanced Trauma Life Support Team (ATLS) led by
the battalion surgeon.

This package, coupled with the available close air
support, provided the essential combat power to ensure the
security of Tuzla Airbase. However, I would not be
comfortable with the security until the third rifle company
and the remainder of the heavy weapons company arrived
in Tuzla. The planned airflow to insert the remainder of the
ABCT was:

Day 2: A Company (-), three heavy weapons platoons
from E Company, a TPQ-36 and a TPQ-37 radar
section, and the TF Tactical Operations Center;

Day 3: Remainder of E Company (Heavy Weapons), A
Company (-), D Battery (-), and Combat Service
Support elements; and

Day 4: Combat Service Support Elements, and supply
and ammo pallets.

The planned deployment on December 15 was not
executed due to adverse weather in Bosnia. The snow, fog,
and limited instrumentation at Tuzla Airbase prevented
C-130s from landing for 3 days. During this waiting period,
the Blue Falcons conducted rehearsals and squad training,
and rested in the hangers at Aviano Airbase. We were ready
to go, and this delay was frustrating for all of us.

The Transfer of Authority (TOA) between TF EAGLE
and the UNPROFOR was to occur on December 20—in less
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than 5 days. The weather delay was causing concern about
TF EAGLE's ability to get into Bosnia with sufficient
command, control, and combat power to execute the TOA as
planned. During the delay, we were asked to consider
options for entry into Bosnia. Earlier in the year, the ABCT
had developed a CONPLAN that inserted the ABCT into
Bosnia by vehicle road march. The route from Italy would
take the Task Force no more than 3 days travel from Aviano,
Italy. Two courses of action were considered. One option was
to road march the TF through Croatia to Tuzla, similar to
the reconnaissance route that I had taken earlier in the
month. The other course of action included a route through
Zagreb to the bridges between western Serbia and eastern
Bosnia. Of course, either option was a significant change in
the plan and required coordination, including country
clearances. The TF staff refined these COAs until we
received word on the night of December 17 that only the TF
EAGLE TOC would go in by ground if the weather
continued to delay air insertion. This was an interesting
planning exercise. These options were feasible, but probably
not acceptable politically.

The weather cleared on December 18, and the airflow
was initiated. However, the number of available aircraft
was impacted by the delay, and the Blue Falcons learned
that our planned sorties would be cut by approximately 50
percent each day. This meant that the closure of the TF
would now take approximately 8 days.

Finally, five C-130s departed Aviano at 1600 en route to
Tuzla. It was a good feeling to be on our way. During the
flight I noted that our aircraft, the lead C-130, had released
chaff and | asked the load masters about it. | was told that
our C-130 was painted by an air defense radar system as we
crossed Bosnia, just a reminder that this was not a training
exercise. Otherwise, the flight was uneventful;, on our
second approach attempt, we made a successful landing in
the snow and fog at Tuzla Airbase. It was 1807, December
18, 1995.

50



The Blue Falcons exited the aircraft as soon as the ramp
hit the tarmac, and they fanned out to their pre-planned
link-up points with U.S. Special Forces soldiers from 1st
Battalion, 10th Special Forces. The SF guides were added
late in the planning process, but | favored the change. | was
confident that they would ensure a smooth link-up of our
force with the UNPROFOR security force. The 1st
Battalion, 10th SF soldiers were well known by our leaders;
we had worked with them frequently during the extraction
rehearsals during the past year. This habitual relationship
enabled us to conduct link-up and movement with minimal
confusion despite the fact that we had coordinated their
assistance telephonically. Our leaders were familiar with
one another, and our soldiers were familiar with each
other’s standard operating procedures.

While the rifle platoons moved to link up with the
UNPROFOR security forces and to establish their security
positions, | provided a brief statement to the media pool
waiting just beyond the runway. Then I moved to the
Special Forces TOC and received a situation update from
their intelligence NCO. Afterward | located the
UNPROFOR Security Force Commander, Captain Martel,
and visited the U.N. Base Commander, Colonel Botten.

The meeting with Colonel Botten was a bit surprising.
Although we had met and discussed my plan during the
reconnaissance earlier in the month, he stated that my
soldiers were not to occupy any security positions along the
perimeter and that he expected my soldiers to stack arms
until the official TOA on December 20. | explained to
Colonel Botten that the TF EAGLE commander expected
me to secure the base with U.S. forces, and | intended to do
so. | reminded him that our plan called for joint patrols and
security at the entrance gates until TOA. Colonel Botten
was polite, but insisted that he was in command and that |
would follow his orders. At that point, I told Colonel Botten
that | took my orders from Brigadier General Cherrie, the
TF EAGLE Deputy Commander, and that | intended to
drive on with my plan. | saluted and departed his office. I did
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not see Colonel Botten again. The transition between the
UNPROFOR security forces and our force proceeded
smoothly.

This was the only friction between the UNPROFOR and
TF EAGLE that | witnessed. If one considers the sacrifice
and work of the U.N. in Bosnia prior to our entry, his
reaction, as the U.N. Base Commander, could perhaps be
understood. Nonetheless, it was an unexpected challenge
during my first in Bosnia.

My guidance to the company commanders was to jointly
occupy the UNPROFOR security outposts and to ease into
patrols along the base perimeter. Arriving during limited
visibility, 1 wanted to ensure that our soldiers became
familiar with the area and that we did not experience a mine
strike due to haste. Any patrols would be with UNPROFOR
patrols in the lead to learn their cleared routes, to become
familiar with their assigned security areas, and to ensure
joint coordination of UNPROFOR and TF activities. As
additional Blue Falcons arrived and our engineers checked
areas for mines, we would expand the perimeter and patrol
routes around the airbase.

It was extremely cold, and a heavy snow fell throughout
the first night. This would be the first of many snowy, cold
nights on a checkpoint or patrol in Bosnia for the Blue
Falcons. The soldiers worked through the night to improve
their positions. C Company, responsible for the main gate
entrance to Tuzla Airbase, made a noticeable difference in
the security posture at the front gate. Over the next 24
hours, the Blue Falcons built hasco bastion barriers to
prevent a forced entry at the gates and established
sandbagged security bunkers around the perimeter. In
accordance with Brigadier General Cherrie’s instructions, it
was clear that there was a new sheriff in town.

The leaders and soldiers of the 10th Company, Swedish
Army, provided excellent coordination and assistance
throughout the relief operation. Although we continued to
work together, the Blue Falcons assumed greater
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responsibility for the base security as time progressed.
At 0300, December 20, the relief of the Swedish security
force at the base gates was initiated, and at 0600 the Blue
Falcons assumed full responsibility for the security of Tuzla
Airbase.

At the time of the relief, the Blue Falcons had 352
soldiers on the ground, including a heavy weapons platoon,
an artillery section, and a counter-battery radar section.
The Blue Falcon TOC set up in a warehouse near the TF
EAGLE TOC, and our Aid Station was established in what
had been the base commander’'s quarters. The company
commanders established platoon living areas in interior
base buildings or in the aircraft bunkers in the vicinity of
their security positions. This was done to increase the
protection of our force. The airbase had been shelled in the
past year and was directly below the Serb positions on
Mount Vis. Also, | recalled the bombing of the troop
barracks in Lebanon and wanted to disperse our soldiers.
Despite our best efforts, approximately one-third of the
battalion had to be billeted in tents. We sandbagged these
sleeping areas, but | was never comfortable with the tent
city. Lined up in one of the parking lots, the tents were an
inviting target.

The first few days in Tuzla were hard for the soldiers.
They established their positions and executed their first
security patrols. Until all the ground forces closed, each
platoon pulled extended security periods and an increased
number of patrols. When not on their security positions, the
rifle platoons were filling sandbags. The Blue Falcons used
over 80,000 sandbags during their deployment in Bosnia.

As we became more familiar with the base and the
surrounding areas, we began to adjust our security plans.
The B Company Commander, Captain Scott McCulloch,
uncomfortable with the distance and broken visibility
between Combat Outpost (COP) November at the West
Gate and A Company’'s COP Falcon at the Main Gate,
established COP Bravo along the western perimeter. Also,
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increased civilian activity and limited visibility at the
eastern end of the runway where the C-17s were off-loaded
required us to establish a COP at the southeast and
southwest ends of the base perimeter. Alpha Company
would occupy these positions and patrol the southern
perimeter of the base.

All of these positions had to be cleared of mines before
occupation and before trails could be established to expedite
supplies. As a result, the battalion’s two engineer platoons
were among the busiest soldiers in the TF. Their job was
dangerous, but essential. Any place where there was a need
to move off the roads on the airbase, our engineers were
called to clear the area first.

The heavy engineer platoon was in constant demand,
particularly during the initial weeks prior to 1AD’s crossing
of the Sava River. They repaired the existing roads, and
built new roads to expedite traffic past the TF EAGLE HQ
and to route traffic around the airfield ramps and runway.
They also repaired drainage culverts, performed essential
facility maintenance, and prepared the foundations for the
military bridges. Each morning we reviewed the priority of
work for each of the engineer platoons. | wanted to ensure
they were doing the right jobs among the many requested,
and that they were rested enough to do the work safely.

One of the difficult problems we faced early in the
deployment was locating a mine-free site for D Battery’s six
M-119 howitzers. We initially planned to build a firebase in
a field just south of and connected to the base perimeter
fence. However, the time required to clear this field and the
deep mud in the area required that we look elsewhere.
Given the need to place the full battery into action as soon as
possible, the D Battery Commander recommended a novel
solution. Captain Robert Pierce recommended that we place
the battery in a tactical formation on the parking lot in the
center of the base. This would require cutting aring through
the blacktop to allow them to swing the tube in a full 360
degree arc. The gun sites, ammo points, and FDC would be
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sandbagged for force protection. That is what we did. D
Battery remained in this location until the lot was required
for a tent city to accommodate the growing number of
soldiers at Tuzla Airbase. After a week of searching for
another acceptable position, D Battery displaced their tubes
in a linear formation just to the south and parallel to the
runway. It was their fate to labor in the mud along the
runway until their redeployment.

On December 22, a coincidence occurred that electrified
both the Blue Falcon and TF EAGLE TOCs. The
counter-battery radar crews reported three mortar round
acquisitions and the call “Red leg!” pulsed across the
command nets. “Red leg” was the code word that a counter-
fire mission was in progress. Just as this occurred, several
distinct, loud blasts reverberated along the southern
portion of the airfield. At the time I was moving in my
HWMMYV on the southwestern end of the perimeter and
believed that the explosions were artillery rounds
iImpacting someplace south of the airbase. In about two
minutes D Battery reported that the tubes were laid and
ready to execute the counterfire mission. Brigadier General
Cherrie and I talked briefly on the command net. No one had
seen the impact of the rounds, and he wisely directed a
checkfire until we had more information. In a short time,
the TF EAGLE HQ received a radio call from the Danish
Battalion to inform them that their tank company was
firing on an expedient gunnery range south of the airfield.
Most leaders in the TF EAGLE or the Blue Falcon TOC, or
those listening on the command net, remember this
incident. It was the first target acquisition, and it was
reinforced by what sounded like artillery fire in close
proximity to the base. Also, this occurred at a time when
both factions remained armed and their reaction to our
presence was still uncertain.

By Christmas Eve 1995, the majority of the battalion
combat team was in Bosnia. For most of the Blue Falcons,
this would be a Christmas Eve to remember. The press was
extremely active at Tuzla Airbase. We had been in Bosnia
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less than a week. It was Christmas Eve. What a great
newscast! The battalion TOC was filmed giving the familiar
“Good Morning, America!” greeting. Many reporters inter-
viewed soldiers for the evening news, and several news
crews spent the night with our soldiers in their bunkers or
on their combat outposts.

Christmas Eve was busy in other respects too. The
amount of stray gunfire along the perimeter was greater
than the norm. This was celebratory fire—"shlivovitz
fire’—and was not directed at our positions. However, two
incidents did get our attention on this evening. At both
COPs Alpha and Lima, the northern and northeastern
airbase gates, a car full of men accelerated toward the
barriers and came to a screeching stop just prior to reaching
the gate. In both cases, one individual was firing a pistol into
the air. The security force at both locations prepared to open
fire on the vehicle, but did not do so. The squad leader in
each case demonstrated exceptional calm and discipline. We
could not have blamed them had they decided that the car
was not likely to stop and had given the command to fire.

We did not have another incident such as this during the
remainder of our deployment. However, we did experience
attempts to breach the perimeter. In each of these cases, we
usually fired an M203 illumination round just above the
individuals. This was sufficient threat to cause them to run.

Also on Christmas Eve, a UH-60 carrying NATO and
IFOR officials was forced to land due to transmission
failure. The Blue Falcon Quick Reaction Force (QRF) was
alerted and flew to the site near Banja Luka to secure the
aircraft, crew, and passengers. The QRF, led by the A
Company Commander, Captain Bill Burleson, was briefed
and ready to launch via UH-60s in less than an hour. The
downed aircraft landed in a field just forward of one of the
faction’s lines. Captain Burleson secured the crew and
passengers, established a perimeter around the aircraft,
and made contact with the warring factions in the area.
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Weather continued to deteriorate over the next 2 days,
and extraction of the downed helicopter and the QRF was
not possible. The Bosnians in the area offered their homes to
allow the soldiers an opportunity to briefly escape the harsh
weather. Also, the battalion sent a convoy to resupply the
QREF. After 3 days, their extraction was executed, and they
returned to Tuzla Airbase.

December 24 was also the date of our first foot patrol into
Dubravnic, the town just outside the airbase. From this date
until our redeployment, the Blue Falcons executed foot
patrols and vehicular patrols in the areas surrounding
Tuzla Airbase. Often the patrols would pass through the
factions’ camps in order to exercise the IFOR’s right to move
anywhere in Bosnia and to allow the collection of detailed
intelligence on the layout and personnel in the camps.

Each of these patrols consisted of a combined arms team
with fire support officers, tactical air liaisons, and medical
support. A complete patrol plan including fire support was
coordinated with the battalion staff, and the entire patrol
was debriefed by the S2 afterwards. The TF EAGLE G-2
frequently lauded the intelligence gained by these patrols.
The performance of the platoon leaders and squad leaders in
executing these patrols was exemplary. I was always
iImpressed with the attention to detail these leaders
demonstrated. When the Blue Falcons departed Bosnia, we
had executed over 1,400 reconnaissance and surveillance
patrols.

On December 25, E Company (Heavy Weapons),
commanded by Captain John Lightner, secured the first
Joint Military Commission (JMC) meeting held by the TF
EAGLE Commander with the warring factions’ leaders.
Also, at about 1100 on the same day, E Company linked up
with elements of 1st Battalion, 1st Cavalry, the first
elements to cross the Sava River.

Throughout the remainder of the deployment, the Blue
Falcons ensured the security and support of TF Eagle
elements at Tuzla Airbase. The service provided by the Task
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Force’'s Supply and Transportation Platoon, Medical
Platoon, Maintenance Platoon, and Mess Section was
exceptional. These elements supported all the Army and Air
Force personnel at Tuzla Airbase until the 1st Armored
Division’s combat service support units relieved them. In
some cases the relief did not occur for approximately 4
weeks.

For example, the TF Mess Section established and
operated the TF EAGLE Dining Facility and served
between 1,500 and 2,500 breakfast and dinner meals daily.
The TF Medical Platoon, led by our Battalion Surgeon,
incorporated the Air Force’s and 1st AD’s medical personnel
and established the TF EAGLE medical facility on the
airbase. Our Headquarters Company’s Arrival Airfield
Control Group (AACG) executed the coordination and
control of personnel and supplies moving through Tuzla
Airbase. Also, the Supply Section established and operated
the break-bulk point, while the battalion ammo personnel
established and operated the TF EAGLE ammo storage site.
The Blue Falcon Maintenance Platoon provided equipment
repair and service to all the TF EAGLE elements. The
robust MTOE of the ABCT and the excellent officer and
NCO leadership in these elements made this level of
support possible. I was constantly surprised by their
ingenuity and ability to do so much with so few resources.
The contribution of these CSS elements to arming, fueling,
fixing, and feeding TF EAGLE elements in the initial weeks
of JOINT ENDEAVOR was enormous.

OPERATIONS IN THE RUSSIAN BRIGADE
SECTOR

On January 1, 1996, the Blue Falcons received an
unexpected mission. During the TF EAGLE evening staff
update, Major General Nash stated that the Russian
Airborne Brigade would not arrive in Bosnia until early
February. He directed TF 3-325 to assume responsibility for
the Russian Brigade Sector and to ensure the factions met
the D+30 requirements. Also, he directed that we open the
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east-west roads crossing the Zone of Separation (ZOS) as
soon as possible.

As the staff began planning the operations in the
Russian Brigade Sector, | made a reconnaissance of the ZOS
along Route Georgia. Route Georgia had been cratered at
the ZOS, and both factions claimed they did the job. It was
extremely well done! The cratering charges had been placed
so that the hillside was cut out both above and below the
road. Our engineers and a bridge company from 1st
Armored Division would bridge this crater on January 13,
opening the road for the first time since the war began.

The S3 and | briefed Brigadier General Cherrie on our
operations plan for the Russian Brigade Sector on January
4. The plan was relatively simple. First, we would meet the
senior leaders of both former warring factions in the brigade
sector to coordinate the separation of their forces and to gain
their assistance in clearing the major roads in the sector.
Our intent was to ensure compliance with the Dayton
Accords and to advance freedom of movement in the sector.
The D+30 requirements stipulated that the former warring
factions would evacuate the ZOS, declare all heavy
weapons, and consolidate the weapons at designated sites
no later than January 19.

Our priority would be to first clear Routes Georgia and
Kansas between Simin Han and Lopare and Priboj; then
Route Kansas between Lopare and Brcko, and Route
Georgia between Priboj and Zvornik. (See Figure 2.) In
clearing these roads and the surrounding areas, we would
require the former warring factions to detect and clear all
mines. Our forces would provide security for the clearance
operations and ensure that both factions adhered to the
Dayton agreements.

Brigadier General Cherrie approved our plan, and I
departed on the same day for Lopare. The force consisted of
my Alternate Command Post (ACP), the Tactical Air
Control Party (TACP), an Advanced Trauma Life Support
Team (ATLS), an engineer element, and a reinforced heavy
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weapons platoon. Also, Mr. Rick Atkinson, a Washington
Post reporter, traveled with me.

Because of the mined roads, we had to go by Route Hawk
to Zvornik, north along Route Alabama to Bijeljina, and
then along Route Georgia through Ugljevik to Lopare. This
was approximately an 8-hour trip. We arrived in Lopare in
the early evening and coordinated with the Serbian 3d
Mijerka Brigade Commander, Colonel Garic. His
headquarters was also in Lopare. We established the Task
Force Assault Command Post (ACP) on the second floor of
an empty department store in Lopare.

The next morning we met with Colonel Garic’s executive
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Figure 2. Route Clearance in the Russian Brigade
Sector.

officer to discuss our plans for the day and the assistance we
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needed from his forces. This coordination meeting was
typical of those with other Serb commanders. They did not
like to get directly to business. Usually they would offer
coffee and talk for about 20 minutes. Often the discussions
would involve their perspective of the war and why the
American press had itwrong. They would sometimes ask for
our personal views or our opinion of the Croat-Muslim
forces. During this first visit to Lopare, the brigade XO said
something that I've always remembered: “If the U.S. stayed
in Bosnia for 100 years, there will be peace for 100 years.”
He did not have to tell me what would happen if the United
States left Bosnia.

After the small talk, we would get out a map and chart
our plans for the day, explaining where we needed their
soldiers and what type of capability was required. They
always had an officer writing down what was said in each
meeting. The Serb commanders were frank about their
concerns and stated any preconditions. However, they met
their agreements every time. Their subordinate leaders
were always knowledgeable of their requirements and of
our intentions. This indicated an effective, professional
chain of command. They always provided a liaison officer to
travel with us.

The experience was not similar with the Croat-Muslim
commanders. They tended to be harder to establish a
meeting with and more formal once the meeting was
underway. They went directly to the business at hand,
agreed with everything, and then met about 50 percent of
their agreements. We generally had to ask for a liaison
officer. I never figured out if their failure to have leaders and
soldiers at the appointed time and place with the right
equipment was deliberate or if it was due to a less
professional chain of command. | suspected that it was
actually the latter.

Our operation to clear each of these major routes and the
surrounding ZOS followed a common model. | would make
prior coordination with the senior commanders, usually
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brigade commanders, of the warring factions on each side of
the ZOS. At an agreed date and time, one of our security
forces, usually a heavy weapons platoon, would link up with
the company or battalion commander of one faction and
provide security as his engineer force cleared the road of
mines and debris. They would clear the road to the center
point in the ZOS. Meanwhile the opposing faction
commander would clear the road from the opposite direction
with security provided by another of our security elements.

Usually the Deputy Commander, the S3, or | led one
security element and the E Company Commander led the
other element. When the forces met at the mid-point in the
ZOS, | usually invited the commanders to walk the road
with me. If they showed any hesitation, | required them to
clear the road again. In any event, we walked the road
before our vehicle convoy traversed it.

In most cases we left a security element to patrol these
road nets to ensure that they stayed clear and to encourage
the locals to use the road. Most of these roads had not been
used during the 4 years of the war. Clearing them was not a
simple task.

Our operations in the Russian Brigade Sector took place
throughout January. Clearance operations as described
above were executed January 4-6 and 10-13. The clearance
operation to open Route Carolina was a little more
precarious. The areas near Sapna and Priboj were hotly
contested during the war and heavily mined. However, we
opened the road networks, and the former warring factions
began to pull out of the ZOS just prior to the deadline of
January 19.

On January 13, the engineer platoon and a 1st Armored
Division Engineer Company emplaced a medium girder
bridge across the crater on Route Georgia. This opened a
direct route between Lopare and Tuzla, simplifying our
reconnaissance and security patrols into the Russian
Brigade Sector. In order to secure the medium girder bridge,
we established COP Shark on key terrain above the bridge.
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This COP was manned by a reinforced rifle platoon from A
Company from January 14 until relieved by a Russian
airborne unit on February 1. To ensure responsive fire
support, we coordinated with the 1st Brigade, 1st Armored
Division and, when required, displaced a two-gun section of
our D Battery to Simin Han. On January 18, E Company
established another COP—COP Metal—along Route
Kansas in the ZOS.

The Blue Falcons executed ZOS enforcement missions in
the Russian Brigade Sector during January 18-21 and
23-30. Most often the Deputy Commander or the S3 led a
reinforced security element to check compliance with the
D+30 requirements in specific areas in the ZOS. We
coordinated the ground movement with air reconnaissance
craft whenever the weather allowed. Beginning on January
18, I flew the ZOS once a day to check for heavy weapons or
troops in the ZOS. We experienced only a few violations of
the Dayton Accords during these missions. The DCO
confiscated several heavy machine guns. Also, our
engineers disabled a Serbian T-54 tank with thermite
grenades. The policy was to destroy heavy weapons that had
not been moved out of the ZOS in accordance with the
Dayton agreements.

During January 18-21, the Blue Falcons were stretched
pretty thin. The rifle companies continued to secure Tuzla
Airbase, provide an airmobile QRF, and occupy COP Shark
on Route Georgia. E Company also manned COP Metal
along Route Kansas, provided heavy weapons platoons for
the ZOS enforcement missions, and provided escort for our
logpacks and the mobile QRF to TF EAGLE. The average
odometer reading on E Company’s new armored HMMWVs
was 2,200 miles at the end of January, a good indicator of E
Company’'s OPTEMPO.

On January 18, I informed Major General Nash that we
could not provide the mobile QRF, support the operations in
the Russian Brigade Sector, and meet the need to maintain
and rest one heavy weapons platoon a day. | was concerned
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about the increased security risk we were assuming by
decreasing security elements at Tuzla Airbase. He directed
that we continue our mission in the Russian Brigade Sector.
He also directed the G-3 to task a tank platoon to serve as a
mobile QRF for Tuzla in the interim.

The mission in the Russian Brigade Sector was
challenging and extremely interesting. It provided an
insight to the former warring factions, the people, and the
war's impact that was not as clear at Tuzla Airbase. The
destruction in the towns near the ZOS was sobering. Entire
villages were destroyed, standing as ghost towns. We
learned to identify the signs of ethnic cleansing. We watched
Serb families leave their homes on New Year’s Eve because
the Dayton Accords turned their land over to the control of
Bosnia-Herzegovina Federation forces.

Also, we watched the Serb families celebrate their first
peaceful Christmas with their families in 4 years. Many
pigs were slaughtered in the few days prior to the holiday, as
each family gathered in their yard to roast a pig and
celebrate.

Another memorable event happened during one
operation in the Russian Brigade Sector. While clearing the
road to Celic, one of the Bosnia-Herzegovina soldiers
recognized that the Serb company commander had been his
professor in high school. He shouted “Professore!” and asked
to go meet him. Despite having been enemies, they were
soon exchanging information about the students they both
knew. They wanted to know who had been killed or
wounded in the war. The soldier went back to his lines and
returned with several other soldiers who had also been this
commander’s students. They shared a cigarette and talked
for quite some time.

On January 15, | visited the Russian Airborne Brigade
Commander at his headquarters in Ugljevik to provide a
relief-in-place briefing. This was an event that | would not
have believed possible 10 years ago. A U.S. airborne
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battalion commander was executing a relief with a Russian
airborne brigade commander.

The meeting was not what | had hoped it would be. The
Russian commander was brash, stating that he was too
busy and then leaving the room. Therefore, the S-3 and |
provided the information to his executive officer, who
impressed me. The XO was attentive and asked perceptive
guestions. It was a good exchange. However, before we had
finished, the commander returned and told us that he
needed the conference room. Our exchange was over.

Fortunately, however, our junior leaders and soldiers
did develop a better working relationship with the
Russians. We continued to execute ZOS enforcement
missions within the Russian Brigade Sector throughout
January. We executed a formal relief-in-place of COPs
Shark and Metal on January 1-2, 1996, respectively. The
exchange of positions with the Russian Brigade drew
extensive press coverage and was a good way for the Blue
Falcons to close their operations in the Russian Brigade
Sector.

RELIEF AND REDEPLOYMENT

Redeployment of the Blue Falcons was a subject of
extensive discussion throughout our deployment. The 3-325
ABCT and the Marine contingent in the Sixth Fleet were
EUCOM'’s rapid reaction forces. In order to free the Blue
Falcons for potential contingency missions, our involve-
ment in Operation JOINT ENDEAVOR was intended to be
approximately 30 days in length. The initial planning called
for our relief by a battalion of the 82d Airborne Division. The
4th Battalion, 325th Airborne Infantry Regiment was
designated, and their staff visited us in Vicenza prior to our
deployment. We continued to coordinate with the 4-325 AIR
after our deployment to Tuzla.

Another aspect of our redeployment was an agreement
between Major General Jack P. Nix, Jr., and Major General
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Nash that we would redeploy elements of TF 3-325 when
their capability could be replaced by 1st Armored Division
elements. The size of TF 3-325 increased during the initial
deployment to a high of approximately 920 soldiers on
December 27, 1995, and then decreased steadily until the
redeployment of the main body. This manning policy
affected primarily the following elements of TF 3-325:

The LION Brigade Forward Support Company (-)
assisted in operations of the Arrival Airfield Control
Group, materiel handling equipment services,
maintenance services, and medical services.

The 3-325 ABCT Mess Section operated the TF
EAGLE Dining Facility.

D Battery, 319th Field Artillery Regiment provided
fire support.

The Heavy Engineer Platoon provided road repair
and limited construction capability.

These elements redeployed, sometimes in groups of two
or three soldiers, directly from Tuzla Airbase to Aviano
Airbase on the C-130s that made resupply runs several
times a week. D Battery and the Heavy Engineer Platoon
redeployed as units.

By the end of January 1996, the 1st Armored Division
Artillery and sufficient engineer assets were deployed in
Bosnia to provide complete coverage in the TF EAGLE
sector. Therefore, D Battery prepared for redeployment
during the last week of January and departed Tuzla on
C-130s on January 31. The Heavy Engineer Platoon
redeployed to Aviano on February 7.

The troopers of D Battery and the Heavy Engineer
Platoon had endured the snow, rain, and knee-deep mud in
order to do their job. Throughout the operation, D Battery
was always ready to provide responsive and accurate fires,
and the engineers demonstrated perseverance and
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creativity in accomplishing every assigned task. Their
contribution to JOINT ENDEAVOR, when they were the
only show south of the Sava, was critical in those early,
uncertain days.

Although the remainder of the Blue Falcons had little
idle time, the million-dollar question as I visited the combat
outposts was, “What is the latest on redeployment?” |
always believed, and told the soldiers and their families
from the first, that we would return when the job was done,
most likely in about 60 days.

In early February the momentum of the redeployment
planning picked up. EUCOM wanted the 3-325 ABCT to
prepare for possible contingency missions. Trouble was
brewing in Algeria, Central Africa, and Liberia, and the JCS
contingency planning for an Initial Force in the Golan
Heights included 3-325 ABCT.

On February 3, we received a USAREUR FRAGO,
through TF EAGLE, that directed our redeployment.
During this week the staff worked both the redeployment
planning with the TF EAGLE staff and future training
plans with the LION Brigade staff.

On February 10, we learned that 4-325 AIR was not
going to replace us in Tuzla. Although 4-325 AIR was
trained and completely packed for deployment, their
deployment was canceled. This presented the problem of a
replacement, and the TF EAGLE staff began work on the
options. On or about February 11, the decision was made to
form a composite unit under 5-3 Air Defense Artillery
Regiment to assume responsibility for Tuzla Airbase. This
unit was called TF Striker, consisting (to the best of my
memory) of the following elements:

3d Battalion, 5th Air Defense Artillery Regiment,
C Company, 1st Battalion, 1st Cavalry,

212th MP Company.
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Our combined staffs went to work immediately to
determine the best method for the relief-in-place at Tuzla.
This was not a simple problem since the units were not even
remotely similar. We also initiated a training program for
their NCOs and soldiers that focused on the predominantly
infantry-related tasks required by the mission.

The relief operation took 4 days to execute. Basically, TF
Striker’s key leaders conducted a reconnaissance of their
positions and patrol routes 1 day prior to the assumption of
responsibility for the COP. We conducted the relief of the
southern portion of the perimeter first. The major phases of
the relief were:

February 14: TF Striker Commander, Lieutenant
Colonel Dave Wolfe, and | walked the entire
perimeter.

February 16: Key leaders reconnoitered COPs Oscarr,
Romeo, and Delta. Joint, day, and night patrols were
executed.

February 17: TF Striker occupied COPs Oscar,
Romeo, and Delta. 3d Battalion, 4th Cavalry relieved
platoon on Hill 425. Key leaders reconnoitered COPs
Alpha and Lima and Observation Posts 1 and 3. Joint,
day, and night patrols were executed.

February 18: TF Striker assumed responsibility for
Tuzla Airbase security. TF 3-325 ACP co-located with
TF Striker TOC. TF Striker occupied COPs Alpha and
Lima and OPs 1 and 3. Key leaders reconnoitered
COPs Bravo and November. Joint, day, and night
patrols were executed.

February 19: TF Striker occupied COPs Bravo and
November. Relief-in-Place was completed.

TF 3-325 units deployed to the Intermediate Staging
Base (ISB) in Taszar, Hungary, as they were relieved.
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On February 11, TF 3-325 began coordination with 21st
TAACOM at the ISB in Hungary. Their mission was to
receive, refit, and redeploy the Task Force to Italy. On
February 14 we issued the TF Redeployment Order, and
flew the Deputy Command Post (DCP) and Advance Party
to Taszar on February 16. Under the command of the
Deputy Commander, Major Bob Avalle, this advance party
coordinated the reception, refit, and redeployment of the
Task Force in detail.

TF 3-325 departed Tuzla Airbase in three ways: convoy
to the ISB, airmobile to the ISB, and direct flight to Aviano
Airbase, Italy. The TF convoys departed Tuzla on February
17 and 19 at 0730. | was pleased that all the vehicles
completed the road march to Hungary without a
maintenance problem. The airmobile operations were
executed with “Big Windy," the CH-47 company, on
February 17, 19, and 20. Finally, the TF Executive Officer,
Major Greg Muilenburg, stayed behind at Tuzla and
supervised the redeployment of our oversized vehicles and
ISU-90 containers directly to Aviano Airbase on C-17 and
C-130 aircraft.

In the ISB at Taszar, the Task Force turned in their
ammo; inspected, repaired, and replaced our equipment as
necessary; and rested. We also planned and executed the
redeployment by rail and C-130 to Aviano, Italy. On
February 23-24, the Task Force loaded 50 rail cars, while
soldiers departed the ISB aboard 13 C-130s between
February 23 and 25.

On February 26, the direct airflow from Tuzla Airbase
was initiated. This airflow entailed approximately one C-17
and 12 C-130s, ending on March 4, 1996.

The redeployment of the Blue Falcons required the
movement of 77 vehicles, 23 trailers, 43 ISU-90 containers,
22 pallets, and 657 soldiers. The deliberate and smooth
execution of an element of this size by multiple means over a
2-week period was impressive.
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CONCLUSION

Although the Blue Falcons’ participation in Operation
JOINT ENDEAVOR spanned only a 2 1/2-month period, its
contributions to the operations in Bosnia-Herzegovina were
uniquely significant. TF 3-325, a light task force, was
structured and trained to ensure a rapid, secure entry into
the theater and to complement the mechanized forces of TF
EAGLE. In addition to the base security mission, the Blue
Falcons provided responsive service support elements and a
flexible combat force for contingency missions. The day
before TF 3-325 departed Bosnia, Major General Nash
noted the Blue Falcons’ service during the evening staff
update. He stated that at first he did not know what he
would do with an airborne battalion combat team, but now
he did not know what he would do without it.

LESSONS LEARNED

Shortly after the Blue Falcons’ redeployment from
JOINT ENDEAVOR, | was assigned as the G3, 10th
Mountain Division (Light Infantry). While the G3, | used
the following slide presentation in a 3-hour block of
orientation with company-level leaders that were preparing
to deploy to Bosnia. It was based on my experience in
Bosnia, aimed at the company commander and first
sergeant. Due to positive feedback after the first
presentation, company-level officers and senior non-
commissioned officers attended the subsequent
presentations.

My intent was to provide a picture of what they would
experience, emphasizing the fundamentals. | do not believe
that there is anything “new” in the lessons learned. In fact,
the major thread throughout the presentation is that our
Army has excellent doctrine and standard operating
procedures and that soldiers must be disciplined in
adhering to them. Also, | wanted to impress upon leaders
that Bosnia was a dangerous environment. The lack of open
conflict must not influence them and their soldiers to relax
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their security. Hence, the title emphasizing “combat”
leadership.
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CHAPTER 4

THE “IRON DUKES” SUPPORTING
OPERATION JOINT ENDEAVOR

Lieutenant Colonel Michael D. Jones

At about 0900, December 13, 1995, | received a phone
call from Colonel Greg Fontenot, the Commander of the 1st
Brigade, 1st Armored Division. He told me the
Commanding General, Major General William L. Nash,
wanted me go to the division Headquarters in Bad
Kreuznach, Germany. He said | would help run the
division’s Deployment Operations Center for the impending
deployment to Bosnia. When | asked starting when and for
how long, he said if I could make it, by noon (it's about an
hour and a half drive), and “for a long time.” At the time, |
was the Commander of the 2nd Battalion, 67th Armor, the
“Iron Dukes,” in Friedberg, Germany. After talking to
Colonel Fontenot, I gave Major Jim Henderson, my
executive officer, the order to take over the battalion, and
gave a warning order to Major Dick Tracy, my S-3, to be
prepared to bring some staff personnel to help me beginning
that afternoon. Then I went home to pack a week’s worth of
clothes. This event seems in retrospect to be abrupt,
surprising, and chaotic, but it was reflective of the lives of
most of the soldiers and family members in the First
Armored Division during the fall of 1995 through December
of 1996. This monograph is the story of my involvement in
Bosnia as a Battalion Commander, Deployment Operations
Center Commander, and Rear Detachment Commander in
the First Armored Division. Itis the story, to some degree, of
the forgotten soldiers, those who were left behind.

My involvement in Bosnia began indirectly almost
immediately after | assumed command in June 1994. |
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deployed with the battalion to the Combined Arms
Maneuver Training Center (CMTC) 6 days after assuming
command. For the first 7 days we performed the normal set
of high-intensity tasks of deliberate attack, movement to
contact, and defense. Then we transitioned to a peace-
keeping phase for 3 days, where we established a zone of
separation between belligerents, established checkpoints,
escorted convoys, and performed a host of other peace-
keeping tasks. The First Armored Division had
incorporated these tasks into its training in anticipation of
deploying to Bosnia.

For the next 14 months my battalion, along with the rest
of the division, continued to train on peacekeeping as well as
conventional warfighting tasks. There was always talk of
the division deploying to Bosnia if a peace settlement should
ever be reached. In fact, the division staff was furiously
working on plan after plan on how it would accomplish
possible missions it was told to be prepared to do.
Fortunately, because of the foresight, discipline, and
wisdom of Major General Carter, the division Commander,
and subsequently Major General Nash, as well as
commanders of the 1st Brigade (Colonels Steve Robinette
and his successor Greg Fontenot), the “what if” drills were
kept above the battalions. We were able to concentrate on
training our units.

We established a semi-annual training event for 2-67
Armor, called either Spring Break or Fall Harvest
depending on the season, which trained Bosnian-type tasks
at home station. The concept was to take the entire
battalion to the field at Friedberg Training Area and
practice some of our combat skills, while also training on
peace operations tasks. The scenario we used was that the
battalion had been deployed to Bosnia to enforce a peace
plan. We were in an assembly area as the division reserve
and were preparing for combat operations while refining
our skills with some last-minute training. Inherent to that
was protecting ourselves with normal security measures
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and dealing with some of the other troublesome issues we
would likely face on an actual deployment.

Fortunately, there was a road that ran through
Friedberg Training Area that the local Germans liked to use
as a shortcut between several towns. | decided to use two
checkpoints along this road to control access and give our
soldiers the practice of running a checkpoint with real
civilians who unwittingly became our training aids. Since
many soldiers did not speak German, we had to develop
ways to explain to the civilians that we were training in the
area and wanted to caution them to drive carefully and
watch for maneuvering tanks. The soldiers had to deal with
sometimes belligerent or ill-tempered Germans who were in
a hurry, while remaining polite but firm. Sometimes they
had to hold up civilian traffic while a military convoy used
the road, again having to keep the civilians calm, but firmly
insisting they wait until they had permission to move. The
S-2 produced preprinted slips of paper with a caution in
German that the soldiers handed out. We also incorporated
role players that represented everything from factions to
terrorists to news media personnel. We performed
patrolling, convoy escort missions, tank crew gunnery skills
tests, tank crew proficiency courses, and other training, all
while commanding and controlling the events from the
Tactical Operations Center and sustaining ourselves in the
field. What we were doing turned out to be more realistic
than | could ever have dreamed.

It was during Fall Harvest in early September 1995 that
things really began to heat up. Major General Nash had
assumed command of the division that summer, and he was
flying in one day to visit our training. The United States had
recently participated in bombing missions in Bosnia, and it
looked like there might be some positive prospects from a
conference that was to be held in Dayton, Ohio, to try to
come up with a peace agreement.

I briefed Major General Nash on our training plan and
showed him some of the training we were doing. We stopped
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at a confrontation going on at a checkpoint between a faction
(my mortar platoon) and the platoon manning the
checkpoint, which was under orders not to allow a faction
with weapons through. Staff Sergeant Campbell, one of my
mortar section leaders, should have been nominated for an
Oscar for the performance he put on as the factional convoy
commander. He was a very belligerent, tough, realistic role
player. The perplexed platoon leader was getting some
excellent training. After eating lunch, a Meals Ready to Eat
(MRE), with Captain Kevin Dunlop, my A Company
Commander, Major General Nash told me to get my XO and
S-3 and a Bosnian map. Also, he had me see if | could get the
brigade S-3 to join us.

After lunch, Major General Nash drew a few lines on the
Bosnian map, telling us that if the peace process in Dayton
worked out and the division was deployed, this was the area
the 1st AD would be assigned. He then explained a concept
to operate out of base camps, establish a zone of separation,
set up checkpoints, conduct patrols, etc. He showed us the
1st Brigade sector, which included a key area called the
Possivina Corridor, an area near Brcko that was the only
link between Serb areas in the east and west. As he laid out
the task organization, he showed 2-67 Armor going, but
leaving two tank companies at home and bringing two
infantry companies.

As Major General Nash departed, I realized things were
really serious, and there was more likelihood than ever that
we would be deploying to Bosnia. We could not share this
information with the rest of the battalion, but we knew we
had to be serious about taking advantage of every bit of our
training time, making sure we were ready to deploy and
take on the Bosnian winter, ready to enforce the peace,
ready to fight if necessary.

Speaking of the Bosnian winter, another event during
that period had an impact on me later. Soon after Fall
Harvest, we conducted what we called a “TENTEX.” I had
been working for over a year to correct a deficiency | had
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discovered very soon after taking command at our first
CMTC rotation. Our tentage and heating stoves were in bad
condition. We did not have anywhere near what was needed,
and what we did have was often not working. This was a
result of a general lack of funds to buy anything but the
necessities for training during the prior years and the fact
that the battalion seldom needed tentage. At Grafenwoehr
and Hohenfels, the troops lived in hard buildings most of the
time. Because we did not know when base camps would be
built, I thought it was important we ensure we could house
the battalion in the tentage we carried with us. Major Jim
Henderson hit on the idea of the TENTEX. We set up every
tent and stove in the battalion at the same time on a football
field. Leaders were present as | walked through, checking
the tents for serviceability and stoves for completeness and
functionality. It was actually quite a sight to see a whole
battalion’s worth of gear set up. We were still short some
equipment, and a little was still unserviceable, but I was
very proud of what I saw, knowing our status just a year
before. It just happened that we were having a command
post exercise (CPX) at that time, and the brigade Tactical
Operations Center (TOC) was set up near the TENTEX. The
Brigade Commander, Colonel Fontenot, saw this
magnificent sight as well, which would later cause me a
problem.

An incident during another training event a few weeks
later in the Czech Republic also indicated that things were
very serious. The battalion participated in Cooperative
Challenge, a Partnership for Peace exercise practicing
peace operations. We provided a response cell, role playing a
battalion that was part of a multinational brigade, led by 1st
Brigade, 1AD. General William W. Crouch, the commander-
in-chief of U.S. Army Europe, visited the exercise. When we
were walking from one place to another, he stopped, looked
me in the eye, and asked if the battalion was ready to go to
Bosnia. | told him we were not ready yet, but would be with a
couple more weeks of training. Although that is all he said, |
could tell from the way he asked and by his expression that
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he was deadly serious. | was convinced at that point that
what was happening at Dayton was going to cause the
division to deploy.

A few days later | got one of the biggest shocks of my
career. At the end of the exercise, Colonel Fontenot asked
me to sit down in his office and told me that if the division
deployed, he had to leave one of the battalions in the brigade
at home. He had decided it would be 2-67. He explained that
his rationale was two fold. First, he needed a strong rear
detachment comma